
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
Dr Helen Paterson, Chief Executive 

County Hall, Morpeth, Northumberland, NE61 2EF 
T: 0345 600 6400 

www.northumberland.gov.uk   
    
 

 Your ref:  
Our ref:  
Enquiries to: Lesley Little 
Email: Lesley.Little@northumberland.gov.uk 
Tel direct: 01670 622614 
Date: Wednesday, 25 October 2023 

 
 
Dear Sir or Madam, 
 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held in COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY 
HALL on THURSDAY, 2 NOVEMBER 2023 at 10.00 AM.  

Yours faithfully 

 

 
 
Dr Helen Paterson 
Chief Executive 
 

 

To Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee members as 
follows:- 

C Ball, E Chicken (Vice-Chair), W Daley (Chair), S Fairless-Aitken, A Scott, C Seymour, 
M Swinburn, T Thorne, H Waddell and A Watson 

 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 2 November 2023 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
 

It is expected that the matters included in this part of the agenda 
will be dealt with in public. 

 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

 
2.   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Family and Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Meeting held on Tuesday 7 September 2023, as circulated, to be agreed 
as a true record and be signed by the Chair. 
  
 

(Pages 1 
- 4) 

 
3.   DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
Unless already entered in the Council’s Register of Members’ interests, 
members are required where a matter arises at a meeting;  
  

a. Which directly relates to Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (‘DPI’) as set out 
in Appendix B, Table 1 of the Code of Conduct, to disclose the interest, not 
participate in any discussion or vote and not to remain in room. Where 
members have a DPI or if the matter concerns an executive function and is 
being considered by a Cabinet Member with a DPI they must notify the 
Monitoring Officer and arrange for somebody else to deal with the matter. 

  
b. Which directly relates to the financial interest or well being of a Other 

Registrable Interest as set out in Appendix B, Table 2 of the Code of 
Conduct to disclose the interest and only speak on the matter if members 
of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must 
not take part in any discussion  or vote on the matter and must not remain 
the room. 

  
c. Which directly relates to their financial interest or well-being  (and is not  

DPI) or the financial well being of a relative or close associate, to declare 
the interest and members may only speak on the matter if members of the 
public are also allowed to speak. Otherwise, the member must not take 
part in discussion or vote on the matter and must leave the room. 

  
d. Which affects the financial well-being of the member, a relative or close 

associate or a body included under the Other Registrable Interests column 
in Table 2, to disclose the interest and apply the test set out at paragraph 
9 of Appendix B before deciding whether they may remain in the meeting. 

  
e. Where Members have or a Cabinet Member has an Other Registerable 

Interest or Non Registerable Interest in a matter being considered in 
exercise of their executive function, they must notify the Monitoring Officer 
and arrange for somebody else to deal with it.  

  
NB Any member needing clarification must 

 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 2 November 2023 

contact monitoringofficer@northumberland.gov.uk.  Members are referred 
to the Code of Conduct which contains the matters above in full. Please 
refer to the guidance on disclosures at the rear of this agenda letter. 
  
  

4.   CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE: QUALITY OF PRACTICE FRAMEWORK 
 
The report is to share the Framework that is used to reassure ourselves 
about how we evaluate practice in Northumberland Children’s Social Care. 
The framework outlines the numerous mechanisms that we use to explore 
the quality of practice and identify learning and continuous improvement.  
This document highlights the quantitative and qualitative methods that we 
adopt in Northumberland, striving for better outcomes for our children and 
young people through our early help and statutory functions. 
  
 

(Pages 5 
- 22) 

 
5.   CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE ANNUAL SELF-ASSESSMENT 

 
The report is to share the content and findings of the children's social care 
annual self-assessment. The self-assessment supports an evaluation of 
the progress and current practice in children's social care and identifies 
future actions to support the continuous improvement that is required as 
we strive to achieve our vision of being a service where meeting the needs 
of children, young people and families is the focus so that they get the best 
out of life. 
  
 

(Pages 
23 - 66) 

 
6.   REPORTS OF THE SCRUTINY OFFICER 

 
(a)  Forward Plan  
  
To note the latest Forward Plan of key decisions. Any further changes to 
the Forward Plan will be reported at the meeting.  
  
(b) Family and Children's Services OSC Work Programme  
  
To consider the work programme/monitoring report for the Family and 
Children's Services OSC for 2023/24. 
 
 

(Pages 
67 - 78) 

 
7.   URGENT BUSINESS 

 
 

mailto:monitoringofficer@northumberland.gov.uk


 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 2 November 2023 

IF YOU HAVE AN INTEREST AT THIS MEETING, PLEASE: 
  

● Declare it and give details of its nature before the matter is discussed or as soon as it 
becomes apparent to you. 

● Complete this sheet and pass it to the Democratic Services Officer.  

 
Name:   Date of meeting:  

Meeting:  

Item to which your interest relates: 

 

Nature of Interest i.e. either disclosable pecuniary interest (as defined by Table 1 of Appendix B to 
the Code of Conduct, Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest (as defined by 
Appendix B to Code of Conduct) (please give details):  
 

Are you intending to withdraw from the meeting?  
 

Yes - ☐ No - ☐ 
 

 



 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 2 November 2023 

Registering Interests 
 
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must register 
with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 
 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of 
your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 
 
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of becoming 

aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the councillor, or a person 

connected with the councillor, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the reasons why 

you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees they will withhold the interest 
from the public register. 

 
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 
 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not participate in any discussion or 
vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If 
it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. 

 
Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a 
matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is being 
considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart 
from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 
 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or wellbeing of 
one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You 
may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 
 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 2 November 2023 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being 
(and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of 
a relative or close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in 
any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted 
a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

 
a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests as set 
out in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain 
in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied 

 
9. Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial interest or well- being: 

 
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the 

ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect 
your view of the wider public interest  

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter to be 
considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the 
matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 



 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 2 November 2023 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 
  
Subject Description 
Employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship 
 
 
 
  

Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the council) made to 
the councillor during the previous 12-month 
period for expenses incurred by him/her in 
carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or 
towards his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit 
from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the councillor or 
his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such 
person is a partner, or an incorporated body of 
which such person is a director* or a body that 
such person has a beneficial interest in the 
securities of*) and the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be 

provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the 
area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest 
or right in or over land which does not give the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or 
the person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or 
jointly with another) a right to occupy or to 
receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or 

his/her spouse or civil partner or the person 
with whom the councillor is living as if they 
were spouses/ civil partners is a partner of or 
a director* of or has a beneficial interest in 
the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 2 November 2023 

where— 
(a) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge) has 

a place of business or land in the area of the 
council; and 

(b) either— 
i. the total nominal value of the 

securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or  

ii. if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any 
one class in which the councillor, or 
his/ her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is 
living as if they were spouses/civil 
partners has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
 

 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 
investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 
securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society. 
 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to affect: 
 

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are 
nominated or appointed by your authority 

 
b) any body 

 
i. exercising functions of a public nature 

ii. any body directed to charitable purposes or 
iii. one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union) 
 
 



 

Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 7 September 2023 1 

NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
At the meeting of the Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at Council Chamber - County Hall on Thursday, 7 September 2023 at 
10.00 am. 
 

PRESENT 
 

W Daley (Chair) (in the Chair) 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 

C Ball S Fairless-Aitken 
A Scott C Seymour 
M Swinburn T Thorne 
H Waddell A Watson 

 
CHURCH REPRESENTATIVES 

 
D Lennox  
  

OFFICERS 
 

C Angus Scrutiny Officer 
S Barron Strategic Lead for SEND & Designated 

Clinical Officer 
D Cookson Commissioner for Secondary Education & 

Sixth Forms 
N Dorward Senior Manager - Education Development 

& Collaborative Projects 
A Kingham Executive Director - Children, Young 

People and Education 
L Little Senior Democratic Services Officer 
D Street Director of Education, SEND and Skills 

 
ALSO PRESENT 

 
G Renner-Thompson Cabinet Member 

 
  
12 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENT 

 
The Chair advised that it had been agreed at Council the previous day that 
Councillor Chicken would replace Councillor Dodd as the Vice-Chair of the 
Committee.  He continued by offering his thanks to Councillor Dodd for his work 
as the Vice-Chair and congratulated him on his appointment as Chair of Health 
and Wellbeing OSC.  Councillor Scott was also welcomed as a new member of 
the Committee.  
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 7 September 2023  2 

13 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies had been received from Councillor Chicken, A Hodgson, L Houghton, P 
Rickeard and J Sanderson. 
  
  

14 MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Family and Children’s Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 18 July 2023, as circulated, be agreed and 
signed by the Chair as a true record. 
  
  

15 REPORT OF THE SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT TEAM 2022 - 2023 
 
The report provided the Committee with an overview and assurance as to the 
work related to school improvement undertaken by the School Improvement 
Team across Northumberland in the academic year 2022-2023.  Councillor 
Renner-Thompson, Cabinet Member for Inspiring Young People advised that he 
was proud of the report and highlighted the huge improvement in Ofsted 
ratings.  He drew attention to the contents of paragraph 6.4 regarding the removal 
of the School Improving Monitoring & Brokering Grant to which the Council had 
objected, and advised that with the support of this Committee, the Administration 
of the Council had continued to fund school improvements.  Councillor Renner-
Thompson also advised that at recent meetings in respect of budget preparations, 
it had been made clear that this service should not be put forward for savings.   
  
D Street, Director of Education, SEND and Skills provided an introduction to the 
report to the Committee along with a power point presentation, which would be 
included with the papers on the Council’s website.    
  
Members welcomed and supported the continued funding for the School 
Improvement Team and hoped that Cabinet would continue this funding in the 
future.  A priority in all school improvement plans was pupil attendance and 
attainment and whilst this had now nearly returned to pre-pandemic levels 
challenges still remained on how to continue to drive improvements.  An Inclusive 
Summit was to be held the following week for schools on how to support learners 
with high anxiety and for pupils not responding to existing interventions with new 
ways of delivering support to allow pupils to meet their potential. 
  
In relation to the number of new headteachers undertaking the induction 
programme, it was clarified that this was over two cohorts and that these were not 
all new headteachers to the County, some had moved between schools within 
Northumberland, some would be acting headteachers covering for short term 
absences, and others moved as part of school reorganisations.    
  
In relation to special schools, a new board had been formed to work with one of 
the special schools to bring them back to their regular high quality performance 
which they were capable of delivering upon.    In relation to inequalities and 
disadvantaged learners it was stated that whilst there were some successes in 
these groups they were still not as successful as their peers.  This was a huge 
challenge and focus for the Council and it was clarified that a significant amount 

Page 2



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 7 September 2023  3 

of resource was provided to this group, not just within education, to close the 
gap.   There were five staff within the school improvement team which was led by 
D Cookson, with one staff member  dedicated to SEND and another to 
disadvantaged learners.   
  
Members welcomed the transition the service had undergone recognising the 
structure and support that the service was now able to offer to 
schools.  Headteachers were encouraged to be role models for teachers in terms 
of looking after their mental health and work/life balance.   Training was offered at 
every level and this always contained an element of mental health support.  The 
Team had also been asked to deliver services within a North Tyneside school as 
the headteacher had previously worked within Northumberland and the team 
were also doing some work within Cumbria.   The revenue for this work also 
helped to support the work within Northumberland and the number of schools 
within Northumberland purchasing SLAs was also increasing.  Members were 
reassured as to the strong working relationships between the Authority and 
Academies.   
  
A suggested amendment to the last bullet point of the recommendation within the 
report was put forward by the Chair and supported by the Committee to read as 
follows:- 
  
Note the changes to funding imposed by the DfE and ask that Northumberland 
County Council continue to fund the service. 
  
RESOLVED that the report be accepted and that whilst the Committee noted the 
changes to funding imposed by the DfE they asked that Northumberland County 
Council continue to fund the service.  
  
  

16 SEND STRATEGY PROGRESS REPORT 
 
The report provided the Committee with an update on progress against actions 
described within the Northumberland SEND Strategy 2021-2024.  A 
comprehensive introduction to the report and slide show presentation was 
provided by S Barron, Strategic Lead for SEND and Designated Clinical 
Officer.  A copy of the slide show presentation would be included with the papers 
on the Council’s website.  
  
Councillor Renner-Thompson advised that this was a honest report on the 
progress of the Council’s first SEND strategy with the four priorities all linked 
together.  He highlighted the Council’s capital building programme in providing 
additional special schools within the County and the aim for post 16 SEND pupils 
to be able to continue to be educated within the County.   
  
Members welcomed the update report and questioned that given the importance 
of the networking conversations following the SEND employment forum, if it 
should have been a larger event.  Advice was provided that it had been an 
excellent event and the conversations following the event had been hugely 
valuable and these could link to other opportunities and the potential of linking to 
major employment forums in the future.  Work would need to be undertaken to 
ensure that any employment/training opportunities coming forward would provide 

Page 3



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 7 September 2023  4 

a safe environment which would allow pupils to build their confidence and achieve 
their potential.  Assurance was provided that external placement offers would be 
matched to the attributes of the students and would be meaningful for them.   
  
The sufficiency of teams to match the growing needs of SEND pupils was always 
a consideration.  There was a variety of different training and support through 
Lead SENCOs and SENCOs for teaching staff to ensure they were able to 
recognise and meet the needs of children in their own classrooms.  The 
Communication Strategy was continually being refreshed to provide information 
for parents and carers, however it was clarified that the SEND Employment 
Forum was for employers to see what support they would need to increase the 
number of jobs for SEND students.    Members were reminded that the Task and 
Finish Working Group for SEND would be looking at the more granular details of 
SEND provision.  The Group had met once to refine the scope of the review and a 
redraft of the scope and dates of meetings would be shared with Members soon. 
  
RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted and next steps be supported 
by the Committee.  
  
  

17 REPORTS OF THE SCRUTINY OFFICER 
 
The Forward Plan of Cabinet decisions that had already been taken and future 
items was circulated for information along with the work programme for this 
Committee.   The Scrutiny Officer would discuss with the Executive Director the 
suggested inclusion of a Review of School Counselling Services and an update to 
be provided on Family Hubs on this Committee’s work programme.   The Chair 
advised that he had also asked for a development session to be set up either 
online or in person immediately following a FACS OSC meeting. 
  
Members were asked to take some time to view the “Look at Me” display outside 
of the Chamber on their way out and if possible to promote this on social media. 
  
 

 

 

 CHAIR…………………………………….. 
 

        DATE………………………………………. 

Page 4



 
 

FAMILY AND CHILDREN’S OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

02 November 2023 

Children’s Social Care: Quality of Practice Framework 

Report of Councillor(s) Guy Renner-Thompson, Cabinet Member for Inspiring Young 
People 

 
Responsible Officer(s): Audrey Kingham, Executive Director for Children, Young People 
& Education 

1. Link to Key Priorities of the Corporate Plan   

This report links to the Corporate plan priority of Tackling Inequalities: Children and 
Young People have the Best Start in Life and Grow Up Well: Keeping our children 
safe through early support, assessment and delivering our statutory functions, 
including being an effective Corporate Parent for those we care for and supporting 
our care leavers.  

2. Purpose of report 

The report is to share the Framework that is used to reassure ourselves about how 
we evaluate practice in Northumberland Children’s Social Care. The framework 
outlines the numerous mechanisms that we use to explore the quality of practice 
and identify learning and continuous improvement.  This document highlights the 
quantitative and qualitative methods that we adopt in Northumberland, striving for 
better outcomes for our children and young people through our early help and 
statutory functions. 

3. Recommendations 

It is recommended that:  

Members identify areas for scrutiny, challenge and clarification.  

Members recognise how we assure ourselves that we are improvement lives and 
safeguarding children and young people.  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 

- 2 - 

4. Forward plan date and reason for urgency if applicable 

27 July 2023 

5. Background 

The most recent Quality of Practice Framework was launched in March 20I23 to  
 outline and highlight our methodology for looking at the quality of our practice in  
 Children’s Social Care. The Framework is used to steer the workforce (including  
 Managers and Senior Managers) in line with our model of practice, Signs of Safety, 
 and is an integral document to demonstrate to Ofsted in any inspection as to how 
 we work with families and partner agencies to work with the priorities outlined from 
 the Corporate Plan as cited above. 

6. Options open to the Council and reasons for the recommendations 

 

7. Implications 

Policy  CSC practice is underpinned by a range of policies which are 
based in legislation, regulation, and national practice guidance   

Finance and 
value for 
money 

This report does not have financial implications, it is to share 
the framework and mechanisms to explore quality of practice 

Legal  The provision of Children's social care is underpinned by 
legislation and regulation. This self-assessment is part of the 
oversight of CSC services by Ofsted the regulatory body.  

Procurement  Commissioning of services in particular external placements 
are rigorously managed and overseen by senior managers.  

Human 
resources  

Responses to the workforce recruitment and retention 
challenges are supported by HR.  

Property  One element of future planning includes the building of new 
children's homes both to meet demand locally and to reduce 
expenditure on external placements.  

The Equalities 
Act: is a full 
impact 
assessment 
required and 
attached? 

No - not required at this point 

CSC work with, support, and safeguard the most vulnerable 
children in Northumberland. 

Risk 
assessment  

Quality of Practice Framework outlines the mechanisms for 
inherently identifying risks and would flag areas of risk for the 
council and links to the overall corporate risk register. 

Page 6



 

 

- 3 - 

Crime and 
disorder  

The Youth Justice service is one element of social care 
provision and has been subject to inspection this year by HMIP 
which is referenced in the Self Assessment. 

Customer 
considerations  

The leadership pledge and the practice framework bedded 
within CSC has effective engagement with children and 
families with whom we work at the centre of what we do. 

Carbon 
reduction  

None have been identified 

Health and 
wellbeing   

None have been identified 

Wards  (All Wards); 

8. Background papers 

Quality of Practice Framework 

9. Links to other key reports already published 

Not applicable 

10. Author and Contact Details  

Dorothy Chambers 
Email: dorothy.chambers@northumberland.gov.uk,  

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Quality of Practice Framework 
Northumberland Children’s Services  
March 2023 
 

 

Version Date of sign off Approver Author Planned review 
V1 1.3.2023 Children’s 

Services 
leadership team 

Dorothy 
Chambers 

September 2023 

V2  Children’s 
Services 
leadership team 

Quality of 
Practice Lead 

September 2024 

  

Page 9



2 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 3 

2. Why do we need a framework? ........................................................................... 3 

3. What is quality practice? ...................................................................................... 3 

4. Evaluating quality of practice ............................................................................... 3 

5. Who does the quality of practice framework apply to? ......................................... 4 

6. The journey so far ................................................................................................ 4 

7. Model of practice ................................................................................................. 5 

8. Practice and framework principles ....................................................................... 5 

9. Applying the framework ....................................................................................... 6 

10. Making a difference ............................................................................................. 8 

11. Assuring and improving quality ............................................................................ 9 

12. Governance ....................................................................................................... 10 

 

Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix 2 ............................................................................................................... 13 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 10



3 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1. The quality of practice framework is at the heart of our vision to be a service where 

meeting the needs of children, young people, their families, and carers is the focus, 
so they get the best out of life.  
 

1.2. The framework applies to all Children’s Social Care services in Northumberland, from 
early help family teams through to child permanence. It sets out what we will do to 
ensure there is a clear and succinct approach to understand how well our services 
are doing, to evaluate their impact, and to learn from what we find. 

 

2. Why do we need a framework? 
2.1. The purpose of the framework is to 

 support colleagues to achieve better outcomes for children by understanding 
what quality practice is and the practice standards expected. 

 Support and guide colleagues to understand the effectiveness of their 
services. 

 Set out clear roles and responsibilities and to encourage accountability at all 
levels of the service. 

 Support and guide the continuous learning and improvement cycle for the 
whole service. 

 

3. What is quality practice? 
3.1. There are a range of national, regional and local statutory requirements, policies, 

procedures, and guidance that set standards, define quality, and capture best practice 
for Children’s Services. 
 

3.2. The practice expectations and bottom lines for each area of our services were written 
by practitioners and agreed by their managers and senior managers. They are 
outlined in the  practice framework and expectations handbook. 

 
3.3. Appendix 1 sets out examples of quality required to meet the practice expectations. 

This is a guide to support consistency but should not be used as a checklist of the 
only activity that would take place.   
 

4. Evaluating quality of practice 
4.1. We use a variety of methods to evaluate the quality of practice by identifying: 

 areas of strength and good practice examples, to be celebrated and shared 
to support wider learning. 

 Gaps or concerns within practice, to understand where we can develop as a 
service.  

 The next steps we need to take, to demonstrate improvement.  
 

4.2. The evaluation of practice is not an additional activity. It is an integral part of 
everyday practice and service review. The insight from evaluating practice adds value 
to the development of quality of practice and to improving outcomes for the children, 
young people, their families and carers we work with, through the service that is 
offered. 

Page 11



4 
 

5. Who does the quality of practice framework apply to? 
5.1. We want everybody to be accountable for the quality of their work, whilst being 

supported and constructively challenged to deliver the best service possible. 
 

5.2. The quality of practice framework relies on shared ownership and accountability at all 
levels. It supports discussions about practice and its analysis at individual, operational 
and strategic levels. 
 

5.3. Practitioners and managers are encouraged to self-evaluate quality as they go about 
their daily duties. Activity such as writing and reviewing an assessment, a care plan, 
a court statement, or meeting minutes etc. are important day to day assurance 
activities. However, practitioners and managers will also be involved in a range of 
planned quality of practice activities. 
 

6. The journey so far 
6.1. Children’s Services is committed to developing a useful and meaningful quality of 

practice framework, that fulfils its purpose. This is recognised as an improvement 
journey, which has included the activities in Figure 1.  
 

6.2. The introduction and development of practice days is recognised as the main 
method children’s services use to evaluate practice. This activity provides 
practitioners with an opportunity to showcase their practice. Senior managers also 
have an opportunity to understand practice and speak to practitioners and managers 
about their findings and to listen to their views about the services they represent.   
 

6.3. To develop the framework further, Children’s Services wants to use the learning from 
more established methods such as practice days, to develop other quality of practice 
activities.  

 
6.4. The aspiration is to develop the framework, so it aligns with relevant multi-agency 

frameworks across the partnerships. 
 

Figure 1: Improvement journey 

• Sustained service 
programme of case 
file audits.

• Introduction of new 
practice evaluation 
activities, like 
practice days.

pre 2018

• Development and 
implementation of 
a quality 
assurance 
governace 
structure, through 
the Quality 
Performance and 
Audit Group 
(QPAG).

2019
• Quality assurance 

service review.
• Review and 

development of the 
performance clinic 
structure.

• Development of 
the Meaningful 
Measures concept.

2020

• Implementation of 
Signs of Safety 
and updated IT 
solution.

• Introduction of the 
Meaningful 
Measures.

• Launch of the 
practice 
expectations.

• Appointment of a 
dedicated quality 
assurance lead.

2021
• Involvement in 

various pilots, like 
the supervision 
template and 
collaborative case 
audit template.

• Aligning business 
and performance 
meetings to the 
Meaningful 
Measures and 
learning within the 
service.

2022

Page 12



5 
 

7. Model of practice 
7.1. Since April 2021, Children’s Services adopted Signs of Safety as its chosen practice 

model. The service recognises that other strengths-based approaches are also 
utilised like trauma informed practice, Pillars of Parenting, the secure based model 
and move to adopt. Working in a strengths and relationship-based approach, is at the 
heart of all these models. 

 
Collaboration and empowerment 
7.2. We have used our practice model to enhance the focus on respectful and collaborative 

work. Families are always encouraged to identify the best solutions to their difficulties, 
to create safety plans that they develop within their networks. However, if we are 
unable to establish good enough safety for children and support for families, we are 
able to review the circumstances so that children are always in safe arrangements. 
By working in partnership with those we support, we aim to empower children, young 
people, their families and carers, and our workforce to achieve sustainable and 
meaningful outcomes. 
 

Working environment 
7.3. Relationship-based practice requires a working environment that supports practice 

to be as good as it can be. Every practitioner and manager must feel that they can do 
their best work with the support of their leaders and an acceptance that mistakes may 
be made. We know the behaviours of families can never be predicted fully. Therefore, 
any decision making, and its rationale must be clearly recorded. We call this ‘showing 
your workings out’ so that anyone can understand why a decision was made at the 
time. 
 

8. Practice and framework principles 
8.1. The principles of quality practice with children, young people, their families and carers 

are shown in Figure 2. These principles are also reflected in the quality of practice 
framework. 

 

Figure 2: Framework principles 

To be child-centred: The emphasis will be on the experience and outcomes of children who come into contact with 
our services and what difference it has made to their life.

To be strength based: The emphasis will be on strengths whilst identifying where practice can be improved; 
offer high support and challenge. 

To be evidence based: There will be a clear rationale for decision making when evaluating practice. Our 
activities will be transparent and fair to those whose practice is being reviewed.

To be outcome focused: Whilst attention will be given to evidence of processes and procedures being 
adhered to, our focus will be upon outcomes achieved for the child.

To be postive: Our approach will be positive, to inform and encourage practice improvement and support the 
development of the workforce.

To be reflective: Reflective practice and shared learning will always be promoted.

To be a learning organisation: Learning will inform how we develop future practice and procedures across the 
service.

Page 13



6 
 

9. Applying the framework 
9.1. It is important that quality of practice is fully understood. The framework focuses on 

quality of practice and practice outcomes, which reflect the key components to 
improving strategic and operational actions.  
 

9.2. The framework supports the combination of quantitative and qualitative data as 
methods of evaluation. Figure 3 shows the core methods Children’s Services use to 
triangulate findings, to evaluate the quality of practice. 

 
 

 

Figure 3: Core methods to evaluate quality of practice 

9.3. The interrogation of performance management data enables managers to identify 
headline findings quickly. These headlines should be triangulated through the other 
methods, to understand their full meaning. This combination approach results in a 
greater assurance of the quality of practice and its impact across the whole service. 
 

9.4. Various quality of practice activities are aligned to the core methods of practice 
evaluation. These activities aim to provide the workforce and service leaders with 
confidence that we are delivering good quality practice and services to children, young 
people, their families and carers. 

 
9.5. The table below identifies the importance of each method and example aligned 

activities. 
 

9.6. Using and understanding the various quality of practice activities, we aim to 
demonstrate we understand ourselves, our services. Most importantly we want to 
demonstrate the difference we are making to the lives of children, young people, their 
families and carers who we are supporting.  

 
 

Better 
outcomes 

for children

Collaborative 
audits

Performance 
data and 

case 
management

Feedback

Practice 
leadership

Practice 
evaluation

Page 14



7 
 

Methods Importance Quality of practice 
activities 

Practice 
evaluation 

Leaders and managers work together to 
develop critically reflective practice that 
supports shared responsibility for risk in a 
balanced way through supervision, 
appreciative inquiries, consultations, 
escalations, and practice learning.  
 
This helps to keep practice under review. 

 Practice days 
 Learning from inspections 
 Participation in peer 

challenge events 
 Practice observations 
 Group supervision 
 Dispute resolution 

process 
 

Collaborative 
audits 

We learn from what has gone well by including 
families and practitioners in the auditing 
process. Practitioners and managers can apply 
their best thinking about what can be further 
developed, creating more ownership in what 
further work will be undertaken. 
 

This emphasises learning and 
responsibility for everyone. 

 Standard audits 
 Themed audits 
 Service area and team 

specific audits  
 Multi-agency audits 

Performance 
data and case 
management 

Regular and detailed scrutiny of performance 
data helps keep track of progress and alerts 
managers to issues at an early stage before 
they become serious concerns. Scrutiny of 
performance data is a core function of the 
managers role. A robust performance regime 
will inform other types of scrutiny, for example 
through dip sampling or auditing, and will 
contribute to organisational learning. 
 

This emphasises learning and 
development through dashboards that 

allow for real-time feedback. 

 Access to performance 
dashboards 

 Dip sampling 
 Service performance 

clinics 
 Senior Manager 

performance reviews 
 The use of the Children’s 

Services Analysis Tool 
(ChAT) 

Feedback Seeking feedback helps us to learn about the 
quality of support families received. We also 
seek feedback from staff and partners around 
their confidence with our practice and the 
organisational culture. Without this information, 
we have no real understanding about the 
difference we are or are not making. 

This emphasises learning and 
development by understanding the “so 

what” question. 

 Learning from 
compliments and 
complaints 

 Celebrating identified 
quality practice examples 

 Children and family 
feedback (through 
surveys, Mind Of My Own, 
participation forums, 
audits, visits, involvement 
in meetings) 

 Staff feedback (through 
the staff survey, practice 
days, audits, Principal 
Social Worker forum, 
team meetings, exist 
interviews, supervisions, 
consultations, foster carer 
feedback/review) 

 Partner agency feedback 
(through partnerships, 
consultations, audits) 

 Children and young 
people’s forum (Voices 
Making Choices) 

Page 15



8 
 

Practice 
Leadership 

The workforce is central to delivering high 
quality practice and services. The quality of 
everybody’s contribution to promoting the 
welfare of children and young people and 
keeping them safe is crucial. There is a 
commitment from leaders and managers to 
providing staff with effective inductions, 
supervision, appraisals, and professional 
development opportunities. 
 

This provides underpinned practice 
support. 

 Inductions 
 Annual appraisal process 
 Supervision process 
 The practice framework 

and expectations 
 Tri.x review and 

maintenance 
 Practice champions 

network 
 Practice workshops 
 Learning from practice 

and peer reviews 
 Competency training card 
 Learning together 

programmes 
 Learning and 

development impact 
evaluation 

 Workforce development 
dashboards 

 

10. Making a difference 
10.1. Children’s Services has five Meaningful Measures (see Figure 4), which reflect its key 

objectives. 
 

10.2. Underneath each Meaningful Measure are a combination of quantitative and 
qualitative indicators that are specific to each service.  
 

10.3. To always develop our practice and the service we offer, we should be thinking about 
the Meaningful Measures and their indicators as:   
 What are we worried about and why?   
 What did we do well and how did we do it?   
 What is the impact of what we did and how do we know this?   
 What areas do we need to celebrate or learn from, and how?   
 

10.4. The analysis of the indicators will support the service to identify and measure how 
well it is meeting each of its Meaningful Measures. 

Page 16



9 
 

 

Figure 4: Meaningful Measures 

 

11. Assuring and improving quality 
11.1. Any quality of practice activity will result in actions that help the service to continuously 

learn and develop. The learning and improvement cycle in Figure 5 demonstrates how 
evidence from the quality of practice activities is used to have a positive impact for the 
service. 
 
 Monitoring- we will use a variety of quality of practice activities to gather 

evidence. 
 Analysing and evaluating- we will analyse the findings from a variety of quality 

of practice activities to help us understand the quality of practice and services we 
provide and what the findings mean in their context. 

 Learning and Improvement- we will identify the learning and opportunities for 
quality of practice and service improvement that we need to make. 

 Reviewing- we will challenge our learning and the service improvements we make 
to identify the impact it has had for children, young people, their families and 
carers.  

 

Page 17



10 
 

 

Figure 5: Improving outcomes through the learning cycle 

 

12. Governance 
12.1. The Quality of Practice Activity Group (QPAG) is the overarching structure that 

oversees and scrutinises the quality of practice within Children’s Services. QPAG is 
chaired by the Service Director of Children’s Social Care, with Heads of Service and 
Senior Managers in attendance. 

 
12.2. QPAG is responsible for discussing the key findings from all quality of practice 

activities, to formulate service level actions and plans to progress learning and 
improvement opportunities across the whole service. QPAG will monitor the 
implementation of the quality of practice framework, the use of the framework and that 
this approach continues to make a difference. 

 
12.3. Appendix 2 shows the various mechanisms that Children’s Service have in place to 

evaluate findings from the core methods of quality of practice. Linked to this the 
mechanisms that oversee and monitor practice improvement are also identified. 
 

12.4. Key findings about multi-agency practice will also be shared with QPAG, thorough its 
links with partnership structures. The Northumberland Children and Adult 
Safeguarding Partnership (NCASP), Children and Young People’s Strategic 
Partnership (CYPSP) and the Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (DALPB) also 
contribute to ensuring best practice is delivered effectively and efficiently to children, 
young people, their families and carers in Northumberland, through multi-agency 
working.   

1. Monitoring 
through quality 

of practice 
activities

2. Analyse and 
evaluate

3. Identify 
learning and 

improvements

4. Review 
impact

Understanding 
our quality of 

practice 

Page 18



11 
 

Appendix 1 
The aspirations of the service do not reflect ‘perfect’ practice or that there are not areas that need to be improved. We would expect there always 
to be areas to be developed, what is crucial is identifying these areas and creating a plan to address them.  
 
We would expect to see....  

 Decisions are risk sensible; always considering the strengths and worries to make balanced decisions about what needs to happen 
next.  

 The child’s voice is always clear throughout practice and documentation.  
 Collaboration with families, or attempts of, are always evident throughout practice and documentation.   
 All case recording and documents produced are analysis based, always considering the impact on the child.   
 The language used in practice and documentation is simple and straight forward. It is consistently respectful, compassionate, and 

understanding.  
 The consideration and application of professional knowledge and research relevant to the situation, is evident throughout practice and 

documentation.  
 Regular feedback is always being sought from families about the quality of the service they receive. This will be considered as part of 

our efforts to continuously improve the service we deliver to children and families.   
 

Contact/Referral  Basic information  Assessment  Planning  Review  Management oversight  

A consistent understanding of 
the threshold of needs 
document across the 
partnership, how and when it is 
appropriate to refer to social 
care.  
  
All relevant sections of the 
MARF will be completed with 
clear and relevant information 
that outlines the strengths and 
worries, with evidence of an 
analysis and judgement from  
the referrer that is based on 
facts and specific behaviours.  
  
Consistent evidence in all 
contact records:   
 The triage manager 

provides an overview of the 
referral, clear direction for 

Basic details in EHM/LCS are 
accurate- names, DOB, 
relationships, addresses, 
contact details and relevant 
flags are used.   
  
All open children will have clear 
and focused behavioural 
danger/worry statement, 
outcome focused 
safety/wellbeing/success goal 
and clearly defined scaling 
questions.   
  
  

There is a clear understanding 
of why the assessment is 
needed and what needs to be 
completed.   
  
Parents/carers and children will 
be aware of the purpose from 
their first contact.   
  
Evidence of effective working 
with families, their networks,  
and other agencies, who have 
had the opportunity to  
contribute to the assessment.  
  
Demonstration that the child  
has been seen and spoken to 
and direct work tools have been 
used. If this is not appropriate  
a rationale is clearly recorded.  
  

The child’s Plan is collaborative 
with families/carers and the  
child where possible, which is 
individual to their circumstances 
and not service driven.  
  
The child’s plan is written so 
everyone relevant understands 
where we start and where we 
want to get to. The timeline 
outlines tasks, who will do them 
and by when. 
 
Everyone understands from the 
beginning what will happen if 
safety or wellbeing cannot be 
managed. The plan rules 
explain what will be done and  
by who to keep the child safe, 
healthy and well.  
  

Consistent evidence all the 
important people to the child's 
plan are invited to review 
meetings. Non-attendance is 
challenged or a rationale is 
provided with follow up actions 
identified.   
  
Consistent evidence review 
meetings are taking place and 
reflect strengths and worries 
since the last meeting.  
  
Consistent evidence the child’s 
Plan has been reviewed in 
accordance with 
statutory/procedural 
requirements.  If not, there is a 
clear rationale recorded in 
EHM/LCS.  
  

Case supervision is reflective 
and focused, which analyses  
the strengths and worries and 
identifies any next steps (by  
who and by when). 
  
Group supervisions, 
Appreciative Inquiries case 
discussions will be regularly 
taking place, which will be 
recorded in EHM/LCS to 
demonstrate the reflective 
thinking that is taking place.  
  
There is consistent evidence of 
CSM oversight and recording, 
for example at key decision-
making points re: ICPC, LPM 
etc.  
  

P
age 19



12 
 

any required actions, 
appropriate to the concern. 

 The triage worker has 
made the necessary 
enquiries, recorded the 
information using the 
domains of analysis, made 
a judgement which is 
based on fact and specific 
behaviours (draft DS and 
SG) including a scale and 
proposed next steps.   

  
There will be evidence of the 
triage workers working out, to 
understand the judgement they 
have reached.  
  
Consistent evidence a manager 
has provided their analysis and 
a rationale for their decision 
making.  
  
Consistent appropriate 
application of thresholds within 
First Contact/EDT, and the  
issue of consent is clearly 
recorded.   
  
All decisions about all new 
referrals are made by First 
Contact/EDT within 24-hours  
of the contact record being 
created.  
  
Receiving teams will respond 
promptly to new allocations,  
with a clear understanding of 
what work needs to be done and 
why from the outset. 
   

The child’s views will have  
been shared with parents/ 
carers and their voice is 
included throughout the 
assessment  
and within their plan.  
 
Evidence that assessment 
tools are being used 
purposefully (direct work, safety 
matrix,  
harm matrix, safety circles etc).   
  
Assessments clearly identify 
strengths and worries, 
distinguish fact from opinion. 
They will provide a detailed 
analysis (not a narrative) and 
recommend appropriate next 
steps that reflect the child’s 
circumstances.  
  
Consistent appropriate 
application of thresholds by 
locality teams when ongoing 
support is being considered.  
  
When appropriate, there is 
evidence of challenge from 
managers if the quality of 
practice needs to improve.  
  
Assessments will be completed 
within the agreed timescale. 
This will only be changed if 
there is a change in 
circumstance for the family, not 
the capacity of the service or 
worker.   
  
Assessments will be shared  
with families promptly and they 
will be given the opportunity to 
ask questions.   

Evidence the child has been 
given an age-appropriate 
explanation of what adults are 
worried about and what they  
are doing to sort the worries  
out, and a copy of their plan 
(like words and pictures).  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Consistent evidence that the 
child, network, and partners 
have contributed to the review  
of the Plan.  
  
Evidence the Plan is  
responsive to the child’s 
changing needs and there is 
evidence it is making a 
difference for the  
child and how.  
  
Scaling is consistently used to 
understand the progress that is 
being made. All members of  
the review provide a scale and 
rationale for their decision.   
 
Managers and IROs/CPCCs  
will provide challenge if there is 
no evidence the child’s Plan is 
working or that it has been 
tested.  
 
Tools such as group 
supervision, mapping and 
Appreciative Inquiry have been 
used.  
    
There is evidence that changes, 
or impact that has been made,  
to address the worries are 
acknowledged.   
  
Demonstration over time the 
child’s plan has worked to keep 
them safe, healthy, and well.   
  
There will be evidence of a 
strong learning culture, a strong 
focus on the quality of practice, 
with examples of “good” practice 
being shared.    

Any issues with drift and delay 
will have a clear plan to address 
this and will be evident in case 
recordings from the manager or 
CSM. 
  
Evidence of consistent use of 
the collaborative audit tool to 
understand and review the 
quality and impact of practice, 
either as a standalone task or  
as part of the quality of practice 
schedule. The findings are used 
to develop ongoing next steps.   
  
Managers will be demonstrating 
an understanding of the 
Meaningful Measures and will 
be using them to identify and 
explain the impact of practice.  
  
Managers and CSMs will be 
providing targeted support, 
through the practice champion, 
to develop the quality of  
practice in their service.  
  
All quality of practice 
mechanisms will be aligned 
(supervisions, feedback, 
dashboards, effective 
performance clinics, practice 
days, ChAT, auditing activity, 
action plans etc) and their 
impact is evident to the whole 
service.  

P
age 20



13 
 

Appendix 2 
PE Practice evaluation 
PDCM Performance data and case management 
CA Collaborative audits 
F Feedback 
PL Practice Leadership 

 

Evaluation of quality of 
practice 

Frequency Link to evaluation method Responsibility Quality of practice monitor and 
drive  

(Pre) performance clinic 
reports 

Monthly PE PDCM PL Performance analyst 
Team Manager 
Senior Manager 

Supervision 
Team Meetings  
Team Plans 
Performance review meetings 

Performance review reports Quarterly PE PDCM PL Head of Service 
Quality of Practice Lead 
Senior Manager 

QPAG 
Business and performance 
meetings 

Business and performance 
meetings 

Quarterly PE PDCM CA F Quality of Practice Lead 
Performance Lead 

QPAG 
Team Meetings 
Manager’s meetings 
Team Plans 

Practice day reports Annual per 
service 

PE PDCM CA F PL Senior Leadership Team QPAG 
Team Meetings 
Manager’s meetings 
Team Plans 
Self-assessment 

Self-assessment Annual PE PDCM CA F PL Performance Lead 
Senior Leadership Team 

QPAG 

Continuous improvement 
plan  

Annual PE PDCM CA F PL Senior Leadership Team QPAG 

Performance and quality 
assurance report 

Quarterly PE 
 

PDCM CA F PL Quality of Practice Lead 
Performance Lead 

QPAG 
Business and performance 
meetings 

Quality of Practice report Bi-Annual PE PDCM CA F PL Quality of Practice Lead QPAG 
Business and performance 
meetings 

 

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Thursday 02 November 2023 

Children's Social Care Annual Self-Assessment 

Report of Councillor(s) Guy Renner-Thompson, Cabinet Member for Inspiring Young 
People 

 
Responsible Officer(s): Audrey Kingham, Executive Director for Children, Young People 
& Education 

1. Link to Key Priorities of the Corporate Plan   

This report links to the Corporate plan priority of Tackling Inequalities: Children and 
Young People have the Best Start in Life and Grow Up Well: Keeping our children 
safe through early support, assessment and delivering our statutory functions, 
including being an effective Corporate Parent for those we care for and supporting 
our care leavers. 

2. Purpose of report 

The report is to share the content and findings of the children's social care annual 
self-assessment. The self-assessment supports an evaluation of the progress and 
current practice in children's social care and identifies future actions to support the 
continuous improvement that is required as we strive to achieve our vision of being 
a service where meeting the needs of children, young people and families is the 
focus so that they get the best out of life. 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 Members identify areas for scrutiny, challenge and clarification.   

3.2 Members recognise areas of good practice in safeguarding and supporting children 
young people and their families. 

4. Forward plan date and reason for urgency if applicable 

27 July 2023 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



 

 

- 2 - 

5. Background 

5.1 The annual self-assessment is recommended and used by Ofsted as part of the 
Inspection of Local Authority Childrens Services (ILACS) framework. The self 
assessment is used as the basis for discussion and challenge at the annual 
engagement meeting between Ofsted and the local authority, the last one with 
Northumberland taking place in March 2023. The self assessment is also a key 
document required by Ofsted at the point of inspection and in Northumberland we 
are due our full ILACS inspection at any time this year. 

6. Options open to the Council and reasons for the recommendations 

6.1 It is important that elected members understand the range, complexity and 
importance of the work across children’s services and that they provide effective 
scrutiny, challenge and oversight of that work to ensure that it is as effective as 
possible in making sure that children and young people are safeguarded, protected 
and supported . 

7. Implications 

Policy  CSC practice is underpinned by a range of policies which are 
based in legislation, regulation and national practice guidance  

Finance and 
value for 
money 

Children’s Services do need to meet their statutory 
requirements in the provision of children’s services. There has 
been an increase in demand and expenditure and there is 
rigorous oversight of that expenditure. 

Legal  The provision of Children’s social care is underpinned by 
legislation and regulation.  This self-assessment is part of the 
oversight of CSC services by Ofsted the regulatory body.  

Procurement  Commissioning of services in particular external placements 
are rigorously managed and overseen by senior managers. 

Human 
resources  

Responses to the workforce recruitment and retention 
challenges are supported by HR 

Property  One element of future planning includes the building of new 
children’s homes both to meet demand locally and to reduce 
expenditure on external placements. 

The Equalities 
Act: is a full 
impact 
assessment 
required and 
attached? 

No - not required at this point 

CSC work with support, and safeguard the most vulnerable 
children in Northumberland. 

Risk 
assessment  

Self-assessment is inherently a risk assessment and would 
flag areas of risk for the council and links to the overall 
corporate risk register. 

Page 24



 

 

- 3 - 

Crime and 
disorder  

The Youth Justice service is one element of social care 
provision and has been subject to inspection this year by HMIP 
which is referenced in the self-assessment. 

Customer 
considerations  

The leadership pledge and the practice framework bedded 
within CSC has effective engagement with children and 
families with whom we work at the centre of what we do. 

Carbon 
reduction  

None have been identified 

Health and 
wellbeing   

None have been identified 

Wards  (All Wards); 

8. Background papers 

Children’s Services Annual Self-Assessment 

9. Links to other key reports already published 

“Not Applicable” 

10. Author and Contact Details  

Graham Reiter, Director of Children, Young People and Families 
Email:  graham.reiter@northumberland.gov.uk  

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

                                                                                             

Page 27



2 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Introduction  
  
I am very pleased to be part of introducing this annual self-assessment with the privilege of 
becoming the permanent Executive Director of Childrens Services earlier in the year, having 
undertaken the interim role jointly with Graham Reiter since the departure of Cath McEvoy-Carr 
the previous DCS. 
 
Our vision for Northumberland children’s social care is to be a service where meeting the needs 
of children, young people and families is the focus so that they get the best out of life. Our 
leadership pledge highlights our commitment to challenge ourselves relentlessly to achieve 
continuous improvement in the quality and effectiveness of our services for children, young 
people, and their families. This annual self-assessment is a key feature of pulling together the 
range of ways in which we understand the quality of our practice and ensure that we put in place 
actions to further develop and continuously improve our services. We have coordinated the 
findings of our quality of practice work, used key performance information and more broadly 
encapsulated the findings and developments of our continuous improvement plan and linked 
strategies in the relevant sections of this self-assessment.  
  
Within each of the sections, we have identified what we have done well, what we could do better, 
detailed the key evidence of the impact in that area of work and then highlighted actions to take 
forward in the continuous improvement plan for 2023-2024. This will also include areas of 
development arising from national direction and at the time of writing, a key driver is the 
government's response to the Independent Review of Childrens Social Care, Stable Homes Built 
on Love.  
  
We do see, through the range of ways in which we understand the quality of our practice, the 
dedication and commitment of our workforce who are our most valuable resource and continue 
to deliver effective services despite the significant and ongoing challenges that are faced. 
 

 
Executive Director of Children, Young People and Education 
 
  
  
                       
 
 
Graham Reiter 
Director of Children’s Social Care, Young People and Families 
 
  

Page 28



3 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Our evaluation of the top 4 improvement priorities 2022/23 
u 

                                                        Strategic Leadership:   
Leadership 
resources 

Leadership and management cover maintained despite several senior manager changes, and 
capacity increased with a new Head of Quality Assurance post. 

Early Help One of 14 Trailblazers to develop Family Hubs further and faster. Brought all our externally 
commissioned services in house to increase flexibility and integrating our Family Hubs, 
Supporting Families and Healthy Relationships approaches to maximise effectiveness. Early Help 
education team working well with schools. 

SEND Gained growth funding to develop an in-house short break service and implemented a resource 
panel to oversee the allocation of short break resources. 

Corporate 
Parenting 

Remains a lead member priority, further enhanced with the leader of the Council becoming CPAG 
chair. Work on the Promises has developed across the Council and with the private sector who 
have committed to providing support and EET for children in care and care leavers. New DFE-
funded children's home planned to open in late summer/Autumn 2023 which will enhance our 
placement sufficiency. Leading regional work on care leaver’s covenant. 

Partnerships Effectively integrated the children’s and adults safeguarding partnerships to provide appropriate 
assurance, oversight and development of those respective areas but also maximise opportunities 
for learning and development. Successfully maintained the additional health service funding to 
support external placements.  

National 
Developments 

Stable Homes, Built on Love: We are participating in the Data and Digital Children’s voices project, 
PLO data capture and Regional Fostering pathfinders. Established more flexible commissioning 
arrangements to maximise the available Supported Accommodation provision and working with 
providers in preparation for registration and inspection of those services. 

Virtual School 
responsibilities 

Good progress made in fulfilling the extended duty to promote the education of children with a 
social worker. Our model has been cited as good practice by the DFE and case file audits show 
evidence of impact. The Head of the Virtual School is leading the county’s attendance strategy 
which incorporates our effective CME procedure and associated multi agency tracking panel. 

Financial Slight underspend in 2022/23 due to vacancies. Successfully gained growth funding for short 
breaks, education welfare and schools safeguarding capacity for 2023-24. 

                                                         Workforce: 
Strategy Workforce strategy updated to reflect key priorities; dashboard further developed to monitor 

trends.  
Service 
Developments 

Embedding of NEWST, Pre-birth and Early Help education teams with positive impact. 
Reorganised our children's centre and Early Help service - our Family Hub development was 
externally commended. 

Recruitment 
and retention 

Success of our social work academy affirmed by Skills for Care review. Finalised admin 
restructure to provide more consistent support across the social care service and appropriately 
increased the use of Social Work Support Assistants to support social workers. 

Staff feedback Staff feel well supported with good access to managers and effective learning tools. Practice Days 
evidence that staff know their children well, aim high, and work collaboratively. 

Benchmarking Better than national average for staff turnover, absence, vacancies, and use of agency staff 
                                              Placement, Sufficiency, stability, and support: 
Sufficiency All LA-run homes rated are rated Good or better; new build unit will add further capacity and LA 

foster care capacity has increased. This remains an area for further improvement, though. 
Stability  This is challenging and the above developments respond to that. More of our cared for children 

are placed close to the family home than previously. Mid-year school moves have reduced. 
Support Good impact of the NEWST team reported in March 2023. Virtual School and Fostering service 

work well to secure appropriate placements that support learning and well-being. 
                                              Improving social care practice:  
Framework The Quality of Practice Framework went live in March 2023, bringing all its elements together to 

inform our evaluation of continuous improvement. 
Model The SofS model is used well by managers to evaluate their teams’ impact.  
Scrutiny Focused Visit was positive about arrangements for planning for and achieving permanence. 

Practice Days see improved direct work with families.  
 

Page 29



4 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP  
 
1.1  What have we done well in the last year?  
 
While there have been some changes in the senior leadership team in the year, with colleagues 
gaining promotion to posts in neighbouring authorities, we have worked hard to maintain 
consistent support and leadership from the senior team. Leadership and management cover 
across the services was maintained through the current management team and three of the four 
posts have been filled through successful internal applicants, with one external candidate due to 
join later in summer. As part of the corporate restructure, we have been successful in enhancing 
the senior management capacity across children's services with an additional Head of Service 
post.  
 
We have effectively and safely continued to deliver wider direct services over the last year, 
maintaining the virtual elements which have enhanced direct work, while supporting a hybrid and 
flexible model of working for office-based staff in line with business need. 
 
Following the Ofsted Focused Visit, which took place in July 2022, the detail of the positive 
findings and our response to the recommendations is detailed in the section on Children Looked 
After. 
 
Early Help and Prevention: Northumberland are one of 75 local authorities leading the 
implementation of Family Hubs and we have been selected as one of 14 Trailblazers to develop 
this further and faster. We have brought all our externally commissioned services in house to 
increase flexibility and worked to integrate our Family Hubs, Supporting Families and Healthy 
Relationships approaches to maximise effectiveness and integration.  

 
The services were visited by Dame Andrea Leadsom 
in May 2023 who was extremely impressed by the 
work and the developments. Further to this, 
Northumberland has been accepted as one of six local 
areas to participate in a national Thematic Review to 
be undertaken by Ofsted and CQC in August 2023 to 
inform future practice and regulation of Family Hubs. 
(See section on Early Help for evidence of impact and 
how we know). 
We have developed and implemented our Early Help 
Education support team which is based with our First 
Contact early help team to enhance links and support 

with schools (see section below for more detail). 
 
We have developed and embedded our social work pre-birth team in one of our Family Hubs with 
the evaluation of the first year undertaken in August 2023, highlighting outcomes that are 
extremely positive. 
 
Northumberland Youth Justice service was subject to an HMIP inspection in April 2023 and the 
overall judgement was Good with three areas being judged Outstanding. 
 
SEND: We have continued to develop our systems, processes, and services for children with 
SEND and their families. We were successful in gaining growth funding, despite significant 

Page 30



5 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

financial pressures, to develop an in-house short break service. We have also implemented a 
resource panel to oversee the allocation of short break resources.  
 
Corporate Parenting: Corporate Parenting continues to be a lead member priority, and this will 
be further enhanced with the leader of the council taking on the role of chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Advisory Group (CPAG) from summer 2023. Training has been delivered to elected 
members and services across the council have engaged enthusiastically as corporate parents, 
identifying realistic actions and are able to evidence actions they have taken to fulfil their 
Promises. The private sector has been well engaged through the Northumberland Line project 
and Tharsus (based in Blyth) who have committed to providing support and 
education/training/employment for looked after children and care leavers. 
 
We were successful in gaining DfE (Department for Education) capital funding to support the build 
of a children's home which we have progressed, with the home planned to open in late 
summer/Autumn 2023 which will enhance our placement sufficiency.  
 
Northumberland is leading regional developments of the Care Leavers Covenant with the North 
East and North Cumbria ICB (Integrated Care Board), and North East Raising Aspirations 
Partnership of 5 regional universities. 
 
Partnership: We have successfully integrated the children's and adults safeguarding 
partnerships in Northumberland over the year, with streamlined and revised structures and 
processes in place, including specific development of independent scrutiny and enhanced 
business support. This will ensure appropriate assurance, oversight and development of those 
respective areas but also maximise opportunities for learning and development across children's 
and adults. The DfE have seen and are using our work, particularly around independent scrutiny, 
to inform national developments. 
 
More specifically, the NCASP (Northumberland Children and Adults Safeguarding Partnership) 
developments have evolved the engagement of schools and education providers into a Safer in 
Education sub-group that is developing and overseeing the role of education providers in keeping 
children safe to learn in the post-pandemic context of high numbers of children still not in school, 
and safeguarding children in education with increasingly complex needs. 
 
As well as leading support for the implementation of the care leavers covenant with the ICB, we 
have successfully maintained the additional health service funding to support external placements 
in Northumberland for this year which had previously been agreed with the CCG (Clinical 
Commissioning Group).  
 
NEWST (Northumberland Emotional Well-being Support Team) has been successfully embedded 
in our social work services and we are currently planning for its primary focus to support our 
placement stability going forward. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



6 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

National Developments 

 
 
Stable Homes, Built on Love: Northumberland are participating in the following pathfinder 
work coming out of the government paper: 
 

• Data and Digital: Children’s Voices Project in conjunction with North Tyneside: to look at 
creative and streamlined ways of capturing the voice, views, and experiences of children 
and to reduce bureaucracy for front line staff. This is due to launch in June 23.  

 
• PLO data work: Northumberland have contributed to this national work. 

 
• Regional Fostering Pathfinder: Northumberland are participating in the NE regional 

pathfinder on fostering, preparation currently taking place with launch planned for 
September 23. 

 
Supported Accommodation: We have put in place more flexible commissioning arrangements 
to maximise the available provision and we are working with and supporting Supported 
Accommodation providers in preparation for registration and inspection of those services.  
 
Virtual School responsibilities: Good progress has been made in fulfilling the Virtual School 
Headteacher’s extended duty to promote the education of children with a social worker. The initial 
project plan has evolved into a ‘business as usual’ approach, and our innovative Virtual School 
model was showcased by the DfE as a model of good practice in a national webinar in 2022. 
There is evidence of impact in case file audits, a performance monitoring framework is being 
implemented, and the development of accessible training and resources for schools and social 
workers continues. 
 
The Virtual School Headteacher is providing leadership for the local authority’s response to new 
statutory attendance requirements. Northumberland’s DfE Attendance Adviser has supported 
with the development of an attendance strategy which will begin implementation in September 
2023, with a broader universal offer for schools and families from a strengthened Education 
Welfare service. The strategy incorporates our children missing education procedure (a policy of 
NCASP) which has been adapted post-pandemic to target specific groups of children at a monthly 
multi-agency tracking panel. 
 
Financial: Children’s Social Care overall had a slight underspend at the year-end 22/23 but 
this was primarily to do with underspend on staffing due to vacancies. We successfully gained 
specific growth funding for short breaks, education welfare and Schools safeguarding capacity 

Page 32



7 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

to take forward into 2023/24. There are increased pressures and challenges in the current year 
2023/4. 
 
 
1.2 What could we do better?  
While we are pleased that we are progressing with the build of one children's home, we have 
been unable to progress another with a planned purchase of a property falling though due to 
factors beyond our control. 
 
While there has been progress in respect of Corporate Parenting detailed above, we need to do 
more to streamline the approach across the council, and to further develop impact measures. 
 
School attendance has not yet returned to pre-pandemic levels, although there have been many 
improvements for individual schools and individual stories of success.  
 
 
1.3 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
The inability to progress another children’s home has impacted on Northumberland, currently, 
being able to increase capacity for the care of children within the County. 
 
School attendance continues to be a challenging area both nationally and here in 
Northumberland. In the 2021/2022 DfE data release, Northumberland had a summer term 
absence rate of 7.9%. In the Autumn term 22/23, this had dropped to 7.4%. This was lower and 
therefore better than the England and North East rate (7.5% and 7.9%). Special schools are a 
particular hotspot, where Northumberland’s absence rate remains higher than the comparators.  
 
 
1.4 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  
 
We have gained agreement to use the remaining capital funding for a children's home to develop 
a range of small units linked to existing Childrens Homes for which we will apply for re-registration 
of those Homes. This will increase choice and flexibility, particularly for young people with more 
complex needs and emergency provision. 
 
We will develop an in-house short break service with the allocated growth funding.  
 
More broadly, we will undertake further scoping of the social care and accommodation needs for 
disabled children in Northumberland, including responding to the recently published national 
paper on Safeguarding Children with Complex Needs in Residential Care. We will also consider 
the emerging challenges of appropriate housing and adaptations for families with disabled 
children 
 
We will undertake an analysis of our work in response to the DA Commissioners response to the 
Stable Homes report. 
 
We will implement an attendance strategy and use data to deploy strengthened attendance 
improvement support to the schools and families that need it the most. 
 
We will continue to work with partners to further coordinate and streamline wider partnership 
governance. 

Page 33



8 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

QUALITY OF PRACTICE AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT   
 
1.5  What have we done well in the last year?  
 
Key to achieving our vision, are effective performance management and quality of practice 
activities which underpin our continuous improvement and our ongoing development as a learning 
organisation. The focus and depth of our quality of practice is driven in the work of QPAG (Quality 
of Practice Activity Group) where all quality of practice findings are presented, improving how the 
learning from quality of practice work reaches front line staff in a meaningful and embedded way 
by enhancing the communication flow to all staff. 
 
We have finalised, signed off and launched our Quality of Practice Framework which has been 
communicated to the workforce. The Framework clearly outlines how we determine how well we 
know ourselves and focuses on development of the quality and effectiveness of practice and 
oversight while maintaining the necessary monitoring of compliance QofP framework March 
2023.pdf 
 
As part of working under the auspices of Signs of Safety, Northumberland have developed five 
Meaningful Measures to look at quality of practice and impact, developing the use of data and 
quality of practice findings in Performance Clinics, so that we understand what difference we are 
making to the children, young people, and families in Northumberland.  
 

 
 
 
1.6 What could we do better?  
 
Further embed the understanding of Quality of Practice work and the application of 
Meaningful Measures with the whole workforce. 
 
Enhance systematic collation and use of feedback. 
 
 
1.7 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
The five meaningful measures are used in performance clinics, and dashboards continue to be 
developed to better reflect the impact of working with children, young people and families and 
what difference this makes to their lives. From the quality of practice activity that has been 
undertaken between May 2022 and April 2023 (6 practice days, 2 quarterly early help findings, 3 
standard audits and 6 themed audits [three of which was multi agency] to date all of which have 

Page 34

https://northumberland365-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/personal/dorothy_chambers_northumberland_gov_uk/Documents/Attachments/QofP%20framework%20March%202023.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=lLOtTc
https://northumberland365-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/personal/dorothy_chambers_northumberland_gov_uk/Documents/Attachments/QofP%20framework%20March%202023.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=lLOtTc


9 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

been presented to QPAG), the salient points have been highlighted under each of the meaningful 
measure headings, and these are outlined in the impact sections within the practice sections. 
 
Through the creation of automated IRO (Independent Reviewing Officers) monitoring has allowed 
the Senior IRO to oversee when CLA (Children Looked After) / CP plans are last monitored by 
the IRO which has ensured that the footprint of the IRO is consistently evident within case files. 
This has also been evidenced in Practice Day findings. 
 
A combination of detailed client-level reporting and thorough monitoring by team managers has 
meant that a strong focus on keeping in touch with care leavers has been retained despite staff 
and managerial changes, resulting in higher than national average numbers of care leavers being 
in touch. 
 
Ongoing development of the Legal dashboard with exceptions has helped us to establish robust 
data recording and allow us to more accurately track both pre-proceedings and care proceedings 
as well as the conversion rates and are a good basis for legal tracking meetings. 
 
The creation of an analyst post within the Virtual School has meant that there are more resources 
to streamline systems, make the data more accessible and improve the confidence of the 
Headteacher to be able to evaluate what the data is telling us. 
 
Collaborative work with Liquidlogic and Information Services has resulted in the past six months 
seeing the major issue of ICS (Integrated Childrens Systems) and EHM (Early Help Module) 
system downtime being reduced by 76% which has had a positive impact on activity by the 
workforce. 
 
 
Overall Summary of Practice 
 
Overall, there has been evidence of continuing improvement in the quality of practice seen across 
services in Northumberland. The consistency of recording and use of tools has also improved but 
requires ongoing focus to ensure this is maintained. The embedding of use of Meaningful 
Measures and the use in performance clinics to demonstrate and celebrate areas of good practice 
highlights increased qualitative information evidencing the impact of the workforce on good 
outcomes for children and young people. Activity around quality of practice demonstrates that we 
know our children well and that we strive to be motivated and committed to make a difference in 
families’ lives. The move to the quality of practice being supported by QPAG has continued to 
focus on improvement in practice and what this means for children and their families. 
 
All quality of practice activity outlines relevant recommendations, in striving for continuous 
improvement, and reports are shared with all staff across the service. These recommendations 
form a skeleton of a plan to build actions upon which should be reviewed as part of future 
performance meetings for relevant parts of the service and actions should be added to locality 
action logs for reviewing. This process is currently in its embryonic stages and needs further 
development. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



10 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

1.8 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  
 
Roll out Single View software to support with the Supporting Families PBR Claim; the software 
will also provide workers with a holistic picture of the issues affecting families. 
 
Tap into the Council’s new data strategy which will reduce siloed datasets and introduce new 
elements of data matching for needs analysis and contextual information. 
 
Further embed the rationale and importance of our Quality of Practice approaches through the 
Quality of Practice Framework with all staff, including the more systematic gathering and collation 
of feedback 
 
Further work is required around the ‘closing of the loop’ following any quality of practice activity. 
 
 
WORKFORCE STABILITY AND DEVELOPMENT  
 
1.9  What have we done well in the last year?  
 
Our workforce is our most valuable asset, and we continue to prioritise and invest in the 
recruitment, retention, and development of our staff. We recognise that the best possible service 
can only be delivered to children and their families if we attract, maintain and upskill high calibre 
staff. 
 
The management of the changes in our senior team have been detailed in the previous section 
Our workforce strategy and action plan has been updated to reflect key priorities: Recruitment, 
Retention, Practice and Continual Development and Quality assurance and these are used to 
underpin a workforce action plan which is overseen by a workforce steering group. The group 
includes representatives from HR (Human Resources), Social Care, performance, Learning and 
Organisational Development, and communications to drive forward the initiatives in relation to the 
workforce. 
 
A staff survey and Retro Board with staff was complete in 2022 an action fed into the Workforce 
Action Plan. Some key results from the staff survey are as follows: 76% look forward to going to 
work, 87% feel trusted to do their job, 91% are satisfied with the support from their immediate 
management and 96% feel their role makes a difference to residents.  
 
We have created a Pre-Birth Team, based in the Family Hub, alongside multi-agency colleagues 
and our PAMS workers. The work undertaken by the team is viewed positively, particularly the 
engagement with fathers and we are engaging with Newcastle University to evaluate this area of 
work. We have enhanced the training of staff to use Parent Assess. An evaluation report of the 
first year will be shared at QPAG in August 2023. 
 
The Northumberland Emotional Wellbeing Support Team (NEWST) continue to work alongside 
early help and social care colleagues in Northumberland. The evaluation report of March 2023 
found 99% of social workers said that consultation and support were beneficial and led to 
improvements in the care plan and work. Dyadic Developmental Practice, Psychotherapy and 
Parenting (DDP) Level 1 training has been delivered to managers and will be delivered to front 

Page 36



11 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

line staff in January 2024. A temporary Speech and Language post has been made permanent. 
The focus for NEWST within the next year will be with our Family Placement Service supporting 
the workforce and foster carers around placement stability.  
 
We have continued to refine our recruitment processes for our residential staff although the wider 
challenges are equally applicable to this part of the workforce. We have enhanced the capacity 
for covering night shifts within our homes in response to regulatory inspection findings.  
The role and function of business support staff, who are so crucial to the delivery of efficient 
services has been reviewed and we have a new structure in place with senior business support. 
This has resulted in a more comprehensive, consistent, and coordinated support across the teams 
and includes effective contributions to recruitment processes.  
 
Whilst we have experienced challenges recruiting experienced Social Workers reflecting the 
regional and national picture, we have increased the use of Social Work Support Assistants to 
support Social Workers which has shown to be beneficial to teams and families.  
 
Our use of agency Social Workers is lower than the previous year (6.2% cf 7.8%) and the national 
average (17.6%). 
 
We continue to undertake a range of work around recruitment and retention including: 

• Continuing to develop work around recruitment in a range of ways, including have our 
induction share point, and a recruitment landing page. 

• We have increased the number of Social Work apprentices, 5 qualify this year, 5 start their 
Social Work apprenticeship in September 2023 and we are looking to increase this further 
in summer 2024.  

• Increase the number of Practice Educators in 2023-2025 and the number of mentors for 
our apprentices.  

• We are also developing a Social Work Support Assistant pathway (and for non-SW 
qualified Early Help staff) linked to talent spotting and potential career progression 

 
Our ASYE Academy continues to be successful and was evaluated positively by The Skills for 
Care Council. The reviewers felt that the programme in Northumberland was well embedded 
identifying the following strengths:   

• The programme was seen as well valued and supported across the organisation and this 
was supporting recruitment and retention within Northumberland.  

• The programme was inclusive and promotes equality and diversity. 
• Assessors and the PSW (Principal Social Worker) involved on the programme are well 

respected and are supportive, knowledgeable, and committed to Northumberland.  
• Newly qualified social workers are using critical reflection within the portfolio to support 

with registrations with Social Work England.  
 
We are currently undertaking further developments of the ASYE academy to ensure that staff are 
well supported and make a successful transition to the service teams. 

Page 37



12 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
The current ASYE cohort, February 2023, meeting the senior management team as part of their 
induction. 
 
 
1.10 What could we do better?  
 
Recruitment and retention of qualified, skilled staff continues to present a challenge to 
Northumberland in common with other Local Authorities, regionally and nationally. We want to 
continue to develop our approaches to this to be as innovative and creative as possible, 
broadening our reach wherever possible.  
 
Social care workforce turnover is higher than we would like it to be (15.9% but is lower than the 
national figure of 17.1%) and we are considering a range of retention incentives to stabilise staff 
recruitment and retention.  
 
We would like to improve retention of staff within our residential homes to support the planned 
increase in in-house capacity 
 
 
1.11 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
The impact of the workforce challenges are key lines of enquiry within Practice Days where this 
gives the workers the opportunity to identify what it is like working at an operational level and an 
opportunity to determine what, if any, impact there is on children and young people if they have 
had changes in workers. To date, findings in these areas have provided assurances that despite 
these pressures, there is continued consistent management oversight and commitment not only 
to the workforce but also to the children, young people and the families in Northumberland.  
 
SC graduated from the ASYE Academy and is now a social worker in the north of the county. 
He said: “Since coming to Northumberland and getting a place at the Academy, everyone 
is very supportive and the managers all really rallied around you.” 
 
Meaningful Measure 5 – Offer the right training and supervision to improve confidence, 
skills, and knowledge of workers 
 
Supervision is offered to workers on a regular basis and Team Managers are skilled in the 
undertaking of supervision and the robust recording of supervision using the Signs of Safety 

Page 38



13 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

methodology which drives the plan for the child and their family. Data incorporated into 
dashboards ensure that timely oversight of cases are recorded. There continues to be some 
learning identified in this area with regards to consistency and the use of timescales to better 
focus the worker. A Signs of Safety template has been piloted for recording of supervision 
sessions to support greater consistency. Overall staff report feeling well supported and able to 
approach managers and senior managers.  
 
Practice days have returned to face to face. The evidence is outstanding that staff know their 
children well, strive for good outcomes for them and that they are working collaboratively. Pieces 
of direct work with children highlight the child’s voice and understanding of their circumstances 
and ‘learning from complaints and compliments’ contributes to the wider understanding of the 
quality of our practice in Northumberland.  
 
Staff have access to a wide range of learning materials including Community Care Inform, Talking 
Toolkit, good practice examples and Tri x as well as access to statutory and mandatory training 
and specific training in more specialist areas. New staff are offered a comprehensive induction 
and despite vacancy rates across the Service, quality of practice activity has continued to identify 
positive practice in all areas. 
 
Feedback from exit interviews provides information about why staff have decided to move and 
one of the key messages from this information is in respect of career opportunities and grading 
which we are exploring to provide an improved and more attractive offer. 
 
Staff tell us through the corporate staff survey and the Principal Social workers survey that they 
are satisfied with the terms, conditions, culture, and working environment in Northumberland, and 
they feel supported and are impressed with the training and development offer. Data from the 
national workforce return tells us that sickness reduced from 3.9% in 2021/22 to 1.9% in 2022/23 
which is better than the national average of 3.5%. 
 
 
1.12 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  
 
We know our workforce well, we seek their views, and we feel confident in the academy model to 
replenish the workforce with high calibre newly qualified social work staff. We also know that we 
need to focus on: 
 
Review is to be undertaken of the Academy as this has been in place now for four years and as 
we are a learning organisation, we would look to making any necessary adjustments. 
 
Revisiting the career pathway and grading structure to retain staff who wish to progress 
professionally. 
 
Sustaining the SoS (Signs of Safety) training offer, reinforcing the role of practice champions, and 
embedding the SoS skill matrix into supervision and appraisal. 
 
Broaden and re-energise our recruitment campaign through Community Care forum to attract a 
more diverse range of experienced applicants.   
 
We are supporting Advance Practitioners to complete the managers Frontline training and Team 
Managers to complete the Pathways Programme. 

Page 39



14 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
A survey and rationalisation of our Childrens Centre buildings and a move towards co-location of 
key partners / workforce, particularly in health and education, to provide a ‘one stop shop’ 
approach for families accessing information and support  in the family hubs. 
 
We will continue to refine and develop our recruitment and retention practices in our residential 
homes. 
 
  

Page 40



15 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE  
 
2.  HELP AND PROTECTION  

 
EARLY HELP AND PREVENTION  
 
2.1  What have we done well in the last year?  
 
The receipt and management of early help requests through the Front Door is effective, adding 
value to the wider early help offer. This ensures that the right service (including the offer from 
universal services) is negotiated in the best interests of the child and family. 
 
The oversight of our Family Hubs development is detailed in the Strategic Leadership section 
above. Throughout 2022/23, significant work and developments have taken place to maximise 
the opportunities of Family Hub national developments and associated funding. This work 
included a rationalisation of buildings to facilitate co-location of health practitioners and to 
provide a ‘one stop shop’ approach for families accessing information and support. 
 

 
 
 
We have moved a large number of commissioned staff into the local authority (TUPE) and 
subsequently restructured our services to ensure a coherent, consistent, and fit for service 
approach and structure across all age ranges (0-19/25) across all our localities. This includes a 
new model of Young Peoples Support which reflects the service’s focus on prevention and whole 
family working and has been developed on a multi-agency basis involving the voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) as a key partner. 
 
We have further strengthened our partnership and integration, working with midwifery, health 
visiting, primary mental health and EOTAS (Education Other Than at School) co-located within 
our larger buildings.   
 
Early Help staff have a good understanding of step-up arrangements and practice indicates that 
this is completed in a timely and well-informed manner, ensuring that parents/carers are included 
in the next steps. 
 
 

Page 41



16 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Northumberland’s Youth Justice service was subject an HMIP inspection in April 2023 with an 
overall judgment of Good with 3 areas being judged Outstanding. 

 
 
 
2.2 What could we do better?  
 
There are various needs assessments, data collection processes, maturity matrix and other 
recording requirements requested by Government departments across the Early Help services. 
Some data sharing agreements have stalled this year, particularly with health services such as 
midwifery. Work is ongoing to ensure a smarter, leaner, and rapid process with these 
departments, but also locally with the ICB, Trusts and other providers. 
 
Recommendations from the HMIP inspection - Northumberland Youth Justice Service should: 

• Ensure robust contingency plans are in place for all children that address their safety and 
wellbeing, and risk of harm to others. 

• Improve the quality of court work assessment, planning, service delivery, and reviewing to 
keep children safe and manage the risk of harm they present to others.  

The Northumberland Youth Justice Service Management Board should:  
• Ensure that the voice of children and their parents and carers is more robustly heard and 

utilised at strategic decision-making level. 
• Forensically analyse and segment out-of-court data, use findings to identify what works 

well, and utilise this to influence strategic and operational practice. 
 
 
2.3 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
Meaningful Measure 1- keeping children safe, supported, and improving their lives 
 
Practice day findings evidence strong child-centred practice across all areas of social care and 
the majority of assessments and plans in early help are robust ensuring children’s needs are 
understood and that there is multi-agency contribution.  
 

Page 42



17 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Meaningful Measure 2- Making sure we are working with children, parents, important 
family, and friends so that they are fully involved in developing plans that are clear about 
who will do what and when 
 
The high volume of Early Help Support requests indicate it is a service that is known about by 
families and professionals, is well used and effective, given that a very low percentage (14%) are 
subsequently stepped up to the social work service. This indicates the value of early help work 
and delivering the right service at the right time to children and families. This will continue with 
the ongoing development of Family Hubs. 
 
Meaningful Measure 4 – Making sure families and staff from all services work with each 
other to make things better for children 
 
Fewer children and young people continue to enter the Criminal Justice system than was the case 
four years ago with rates reducing and lower than the national, regional and force area. 
 
The number of first-time entrants to the criminal justice system has reduced significantly because 
of the increased use of out of court disposals, as well as the impact of the pandemic lockdowns 
and at 89 per 100k, is significantly below and therefore better than the national average of 148.  
 
The overall trend for re-offending is that far fewer children and young people are re-offending than 
was the case five years ago. The re-offending rate in Northumberland is typically lower than the 
national, regional and force area rate (usually around 20-30% compared to 30-40%). 
 
Chief Inspector of Probation, Justin Russell said “Northumberland YJS is going the extra 
mile to help children under their supervision to change their behaviour, recognise the 
impact they are having on victims of crime and deter them away from reoffending. While 
some improvements can be made, we saw a service that is enthusiastic about giving 
children the opportunity to move away from a life of crime and get back into the 
community.” 
 
Our performance schedule which includes Practice Days, Audit Activity and Meaningful Measures 
Performance Clinics ensure that the quality of practice in utilising the Signs of Safety practice 
model is strong and helps us to set priorities alongside our partners and communities.  
Our performance data tells us that: 

• Suitable EET for our Youth Justice cohort was typically 76% to 80% in 2021 and is now 
consistently 89% or above.  

• There were 989 Parenting Support calls undertaken in 2022/23.  More recent data shows 
us that 60% of the families that have been provided with parenting support were no longer 
in need of an Early Help Assessment at closure. Evidence that families are getting the right 
service at the right level at the right time. 

• We have targeted distinct areas in the County to increase sustained engagement of 0–2-
year-olds at Children’s Centres, from 22% in 2021/22 to 35% in 2022/23. 

• The proportion of early help cases closing where the outcomes were successful has 
increased significantly since 2019/20, from 57% to 74% in 2022/23. 

Page 43



18 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

• A requirement of the Trailblazer status was to have our digital and published ‘Start for Life’ 
offer launched by March 2023. This was achieved and allows us to share our success with 
other Local Authorities. So far 5 authorities have approached us requesting peer support. 
As of June 2023, we are well on the way to achieving the deliverables set out in the bid. 

 
 
 
 
2.4 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  
 
A review of the Early Help offer and interventions will focus on and move consistently towards 
robust Evidence Based (EB) Programmes which will involve multi agency partners e.g., 
midwifery trained and delivering Newborn Behavioural Observation and health visiting 
delivering Gro-Brain. A training plan will be developed jointly with partners. 
 
During the pandemic, our strong parental involvement strategy suffered. We will develop Parent 
/ Carer Panels in all localities to encourage a strong voice to inform and develop services 
alongside our communities. FH (Family Hubs) funding will support the development of a 
community engagement team (5 posts) to push this agenda and work with the wider VCS, 
linking to our Northumberland Communities' Together service.  
 
We want to improve sustained engagement further still and working with health services to further 
support the engagement of families at the point of our birth registration appointments that have 
taken place in our Family Hubs for a long time. 
 
We will implement the recommendations of the HMIP inspection of our Youth Justice service 
detailed above. 
 
 
SAFEGUARDING / FRONT DOOR   
 
2.5  What have we done well in the last year?  
 
Front Door 
 
We have established Strategic and Operational multi-agency MASH groups which meet on a 
regular basis and discuss progress and future aspirations. There is good management oversight 
at the Front Door and in the satellite duty arrangements in the North and West of the County, (due 
to the vast geographical area of the County) which are further supported by an additional team 
manager post.  
 
The Multi-agency MASH is working well and has progressed towards most agencies now being 
present in the office therefore achieving more efficient information sharing, discussion and 

Page 44

https://www.familyhubsnorthumberland.co.uk/start-for-life


19 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

decision making. Strategy meetings are timely, 94% in timescale, with a clear rationale for those 
going out of timescale to consider key information.  
 
The triage of the CCN’s works well with multi-agency colleagues and the quality of the triage 
decisions has improved, are more qualitative and a greater focus is centred around the analysis. 
There is a good understanding of the application of thresholds and the multi-agency thresholds 
document has been reviewed and updated in 2023. Although our re-referrals have slightly 
increased since 2022 (from 16% to 17%), an audit was undertaken which showed that the vast 
majority of these cases were re-referred for different reasons. 
 
While the overall number of child protection cases is monitored, our quality of practice work has 
evidenced that decision making is appropriate in these cases and is clearly overseen by senior 
management who ratify the decision for cases to progress to an Initial Child Protection 
Conference. 
 
Education welfare have increased capacity in the team to offer additional support to children and 
young people who are struggling to attend school. This year the EWSO's have worked with 120 
children and young people including 51 who have social work involvement, 9 Early Help 
involvement and 14 cared for children.  
 
In October 2022, the Education Early Help Assessments team went live, this is a team of one 
Senior and 6 Education Early Help Assessment workers who work alongside social care staff in 
the Front Door. The team supports the use of Early Help Assessments in and by schools to fully 
understand the family's needs and then co-ordinate a multi-agency plan with the families to 
address them.  Therefore greater use of this by education providers will improve the outcomes 
for children and young people at an early help level and in many cases prevent the escalation to 
higher tier services.   
 
Safeguarding 
 
In May 2022, we held a multi-agency summit with regards to Neglect. The day encompassed 
some national and regional level data being shared and explored; guest speakers were invited to 
give their personal experience of being children who had suffered from neglect and the key 
partner agencies were tasked with production of a service-led plan around next steps following 
the attendance at the summit.  It was agreed that this would be overseen by the partnership. 
 
Our Initial Child Protection Conferences held within timescale are at 89%, which is a slight 
increase on last year, and this figure is higher than the national average.  99% of Child Protection 
Plans are reviewed within timescale and this figure again is much higher than the national 
average. This highlights the importance that we place on ensuring our children are safeguarded 
and our timely reviews ensure that any changes are captured and actioned in a timely manner. 
 
We have re-launched the Domestic Abuse champion offer, refreshing our group and providing an 
afternoon of face-to-face training, setting up monthly champion meetings and support channels 
to ensure the role of the champion is maximised, encouraging all champions to undertake the 
training offer and be familiar with the processes around referrals and recording. Champions are 

Page 45



20 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

part of the wider North of Tyne Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Champions network and 
therefore also have access to networking sessions and training and updates during the year, kept 
up to date on legislation and resources.  
 
We have trained our Northumberland Families First, edge of care service in Family Group 
Conferencing, alongside our principal social worker. This will ensure that there is efficient and 
effective management of referrals and outlining of timescales for pieces of specific work so that 
these can be completed in line with the child’s timescale.  The Team Manager from the service 
sits on our Legal Gateway Panel where referrals can be explored in a timely manner to prevent 
delay in any legal processes. 
 
We have commissioned specialised external Contextual Safeguarding Training, which has been 
delivered firstly to all Senior Managers, Team Managers and has been rolled out to frontline and 
partner agency staff. We have started working on a process/procedure for a multi-agency 
approach for cases whereby contextualised safeguarding has been identified, and rather than 
proceeding down the child protection process if this is felt unnecessary, however this is in its 
embryonic stages. 
 
The Pre-birth team is now well established and located in the Family Hub and a multi-agency pre-
birth Team Meeting is set up to monitor progress of the team. We are also engaging with 
Newcastle University regarding research around engaging with fathers.  
 
We now have two workers trained in Parent Assess Plus and have also undertaken Train the 
Trainer so we can train others in Northumberland. This provides a more comprehensive 
assessment and includes additional risk factors to better understand a child’s circumstances. The 
workers also continue to complete PAMs assessments. 
 
Northumberland have been involved with the PLO re-launch where we were involved with the 
Local Family Justice Board where sessions have been undertaken with staff and as a result, we 
have revised our Legal Gateway paperwork and guidance.  Key messages from these sessions 
have centred around the 26-week timescale, avoidance of specialist assessments, use of family 
networks and Family Group Conferencing with a stronger focus on early permanence.   
 
Further to this, Northumberland has been accepted to participate in the DfE pilot around early 
engagement and discussions between CAFCASS and the local authority in public law care 
proceedings. There is no start date at the time of writing. 
 
Partnership work 
 

Changes in NCASP: The LCSPR framework has recently been updated 
to incorporate the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel’s guidance 
for safeguarding partners. This has strengthened understanding of the 
criteria for Serious Child Safeguarding incidents and the rapid review 
process. There is an effective system in place for the notification of all 
incidents meeting the criteria and a clear process for rapid reviews to be 
held (as set out in working together). This process has been implemented 
and is overseen by the NCASP business manager, partners and relevant 

agencies understand the purpose and are fully engaged with (and contribute to) rapid reviews 

Page 46



21 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

and LCSPRs. The LSCPR Framework and Practice Guidance sets out the process and ensures 
consistency. 
 
There has been an increase in serious cases being notified (SIN), these have been reviewed and 
agreed appropriate referrals. We have noted an increase in numbers of  under 1s with injuries 
and are setting up a task and finish group to look at the cases and consider any wider determining 
factors.  
 
The publication of CSPR Panels data has also prompted regional discussions. As of June 2023, 
we have submitted 5 SIN’s this year (from Jan 23), rapid reviews have been held for all cases, 
with learning identified and acted upon, LCSPR (Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review) 
recommended for one case. The national panel have agreed with all our decisions to date and 
have commended our rapid reviews for being well written with clear action plans.  
 
The changes introduced last year to the children missing education (CME) procedure have had a 
positive impact. Almost 1000 children at risk of missing out on full time education have been 
tracked and from September 2022 to July 2023, 286 students were discussed at panel, of which 
173 are no longer CME. The new role of Education Welfare Support Officer is having an impact 
on severely absent pupils, and this is being strengthened for 2023-24. Schools have therefore 
used the system to identify children at risk of or subject to sexual exploitation, and/or criminal 
exploitation, and then make timely referrals to early help or children’s social care where 
appropriate. Integration with other risk management processes, such as child protection, MSET 
(Missing, Slavery, Exploitation and Trafficked) and Operation Endeavour, are also achieved 
through the panel.  
 
Signs of Safety: Northumberland continue to use Signs of Safety as a model of practice, as has 
been previously mentioned in this report. Comprehensive training has been/is given to all staff 
and work has been undertaken with partner agencies with regards to the implementation of the 
use of Signs of Safety. The Signs of Safety Board was disbanded in December 2022 and a 
working group is now in place and Practice Champions within teams support other workers and 
continue to support the further embedding of the use of the model. Templates are available in our 
children’s database that support this model of practice and a more consistent approach to the 
recording of supervision sessions has been piloted. 
 
Children missing education/Children with a Social Worker: Arrangements for children that 
are electively home educated are effective, and in line with the national picture; numbers are 
higher than before the pandemic. A Virtual School officer based at the Front Door shares 
intelligence which links individual children to support services when appropriate. An Education 
Welfare Officer was nominated by local EHE families to receive a KIT Award from the charity 
Education Otherwise which recognises people who have achieved high standards in their role. 
Preparation is complete for the implementation of a Children Not in School register, expected to 
be a requirement in 2023-24. 
 
The education of children with a social worker has a high profile across children’s services and 
with schools. A successful Relationships Matter conference, a collaboration between the Virtual 
School, Be You and NEWST, launched a local authority approach to relational and trauma-
informed practice and the nationally respected keynote speaker is continuing to work with 

Page 47

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fproceduresonline.com%2Ftrixcms1%2Fmedia%2F12843%2Flcspr-framework-inc-sin-and-rr.pdf&data=05%7C01%7Cgraham.reiter%40northumberland.gov.uk%7Caacbbe6572a84c1776b008db6cc8495a%7Cbb13a9de829042f0a980dc3bdfe70f40%7C0%7C0%7C638223379693040255%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=GBQvi7F64qsFVog8c0fvmB38H8qS9vp4qEYj%2FciqXUk%3D&reserved=0


22 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Northumberland to develop and embed this learning. Training has been delivered to social 
workers and a Task and Finish group is developing resources and strategies to strengthen school-
social care relationships. A performance monitoring framework has been developed, and case 
file audits are in place to evaluate the integration of barriers to education in children’s safety plans. 
 
Children’s Voices Pilot: Northumberland are currently partaking in this piece of work with North 
Tyneside to contribute to research being undertaken through funding from the DfE around 
highlighting the child’s voice within records and encouragement in the use of gathering feedback 
wherever possible and appropriate to do so. The staff have embraced this and have utilised the 
equipment to more effectively record interventions in ‘real time’. This has given opportunities to 
utilise a different way of working and the next steps are currently being explored as the pilot ends 
at the end of September. 
 
 
2.6 What could we do better?  
 
The timeliness of Child and Family assessments being completed (80% within timescales) to be 
proportionate, within timescale and evidence the rationale for extending assessment timescales.  
 
We could improve the quality of plans and timelines within our records 
 
We could improve school attendance for children with a social worker. 
 
 
2.7 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
Meaningful Measure 1- keeping children safe, supported, and improving their lives 
 
There is good application of thresholds and children are receiving the right service at the right 
time. Referrals are well received into the Front Door and triage is thorough and analytical in the 
application of thresholds for intervention. Re-referrals are scrutinised and ongoing work to 
understand any patterns or themes is undertaken by the Senior Manager at the Front Door. 
 
Cases that meet the criteria for MASH (Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub) are progressed where a 
multi-agency approach determines the next steps. Strategies are held in a timely way and Section 
47 enquiries are initiated at appropriate junctures across the service and measures are put in 
place to safeguard the child(ren). This is strengthened by oversight from the Service Manager as 
to whether the case needs to progress to an Initial Child Protection Conference. The recording of 
information and analysis in Section 47s is variable and templates are not particularly set up for 
comprehensive information to be contained. Completion of work around our thresholds indicates 
we are reassured that we are applying them appropriately. 
 
Use of child protection/looked after and child in need procedures are well embedded within the 
teams and effective and timely use of conferencing/reviews (as previously highlighted) and 
relevant meetings strengthens the overall effectiveness in keeping children safe and improved 
outcomes. This has been evidenced through Practice Days and audit activity where strong child-
centred practice has been highlighted. 
 

Page 48



23 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Implementation of plans and regular case discussions/supervisions provide a forum for workers 
to discuss cases and identifying how driving of the plan is executed. 
 
Meaningful Measure 2- Making sure we are working with children, parents, important 
family, and friends so that they are fully involved in developing plans that are clear about 
who will do what and when 
 
Children and young people are at the centre of social work practice, and staff members know 
their children and families well. The working with and understanding of them being supported in 
a range of creative ways are underpinned by effective relationship building.  
 
The views of young people in all aspects of work are seen as strong, are highlighted within case 
recording and give a real sense of collaboration. Workers have a real understanding of their cases 
and are committed, motivated and driven to ensure good outcomes are achieved. This has been 
evidenced in Practice Day findings and young person feedback is a key priority for the 
participation team, alongside the use of the Child’s Voice pilot which has contributed to a further 
strengthening of understanding from children and young people about intervention in all cohorts. 
 
Parents and wider family members and networks are engaged well and there is regular and 
effective multi - agency collaboration. Plans are variable, however are improved with the Signs of 
Safety form used now. Identification of family networks is an improving picture, and they are being 
engaged and are creating safety for the child and are further reinforced using “fire drills.”  
 
Feedback regarding intervention from the pre-birth team from families outlined the following: 
 
Family A: “We were ashamed and scared that our baby was going to be taken away, but we 
are now learning new things.” 
 
Family B: “We were initially annoyed as we were not informed that they were going to be 
involved but they were absolutely honest with us from the beginning and that others 
should be open minded about involvement.” 
 
Family C - “The baby was at the forefront for everyone.” 
 
Meaningful Measure 3 - Making sure that children are living safely and securely as soon 
as possible 
 
At the Front Door, good application of thresholds informs decision making which might include 
use of rapid safety plans and where necessary seeking legal advice. The complexity in cases 
highlights the increased attendance at Legal Gateway Panel by Team Managers from the Front 
Door. 
 
Step-up arrangements are well understood across the service and quality of practice activity 
evidences that this is executed well and with the child at the focus, joint visits being arranged, and 
the situation explained to parents about the shift in level of involvement required.  Early Help 
Family workers remain involved until the statutory assessment is completed, and the outcome is 
known.  This provides support and consistency to families during this period. 
 
The acceptance of RHIs in 2022 was 80% which shows an increase from both 2020 (52%) and  
2021 (73%). This figure is testament to the tenacity of the workforce undertaking this role. 

Page 49



24 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
Meaningful Measure 4 – Making sure families and staff from all services work with each 
other to make things better for children 
 
Good multi agency working has been evidenced across the service and assessments, plans 
and attendance at relevant meetings is strong. Plans, however, continue to be variable in their 
recording, although the Signs of Safety format supports clarity of which tasks will be completed 
by whom and by when. This gives workers, partner agencies and, more importantly, families, a 
clear understanding of what is expected.  
 
The aim of implementing the Education Early Help Assessments Team was to increase the 
number of children with education-initiated Early Help Assessments to 200 for the academic year 
2022/23. This target has been exceeded and from September 2022 to 21 July 2023, there have 
been 420 children with education-initiated Early Help Assessments. 
Feedback outlined below from education colleagues has been very positive: 
 
“This role has helped us to provide support to parents that would normally shy away from 
what they consider 'authority'.” 
 
“I wanted to send a huge thank you for introducing the Education EHA worker to our 
school, she cannot do enough to support us and has made the process of initiating / 
completing EHA meetings a simple one. As a result of their involvement, I feel families are 
getting the best support possible and as a school we feel fully supported in our role to 
ensure the best outcomes for the children and their families.” 
 
 
2.8 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  

 
We will implement statutory DfE guidance on ‘Working together to improve school attendance.’ 
 
We will recruit to a new post of Virtual School Mentor: education of children with a social worker 
to better embed changes in legislation. 
 
The next phase of Education EHA Team is to now develop data collection to be able to record 
impact against several measures, these include measures that are education focussed such as 
attendance and attainment and training with regards to SEND. 
 
Focused workshop to be undertaken regarding the completion of child and family assessments 
so we better understand any blocks to completion within set timescales and why timescales may 
be extended. 
 
We will undertake work with staff groups to further improve the quality of plans to ensure 
consistency. 
We will agree a process to manage and oversee cases where contextualised safeguarding is a 
factor. 
 
We will ensure that multi-agency audit regarding domestic abuse is undertaken in October 2023. 
 

Page 50



25 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

We will ensure that Neglect Actions plans are re-visited to determine the impact of the Neglect 
Summit held in 2022. 
 
Work to be undertaken with regards to understanding and proposal of next steps for cases in the 
child in need cohort. 
 
We will participate in the DfE pilot regarding early engagement with CAFCASS in care 
proceedings. 
 
Exploration of funding for working with FDAC (Family Drug and Alcohol Court) as an alternative 
family court for care proceedings where parental substance and alcohol misuse is a key factor as 
is the case for 47% of parents currently in care proceedings. 
  

Page 51



26 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

3.   CHILDREN WHO ARE LOOKED AFTER AND CARE LEAVERS 
  
CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER  
 
3.1  What have we done well in the last year?  
  
Northumberland continues to have the lowest rate of children and young people in care in the 
North East region (77 per 10K compared to 110), although our overall numbers have increased 
(from 73 per 10K in March 2022). Of those who have been leaving care, more do return home 
than any other route (33% compared to 28% nationally). The numbers leaving care due to being 
adopted have reduced in this period compared to the previous one (11 per quarter in 2021 to 5 
per quarter in 2022), although remain higher than the national average (14% compared to 10%). 
 
We have reviewed and updated the corporate parenting strategy, and the related action plan and 
further enhanced partnership engagement including updating the terms of reference for MALAP 
(Multi Agency Looked After Partnership). As indicated earlier, we continue to strengthen the 
CPAG arrangements including the recent taking-up of the chair by the Leader of the Council. 
  
The quality of our in-house residential care has been maintained, including responding promptly 
and appropriately to an Ofsted monitoring visit, with all our homes currently rated as good and 
our secure unit Kyloe House being the only secure provision nationally to be judged as 
outstanding. 
 
External residential placements continue to be closely monitored by a multiagency High-Level 
Resource Panel which meets weekly to agree and review external placements, including ensuring 
weekly oversight of bespoke arrangements on the occasions these must be made. 

 
As noted earlier, we are progressing with the build of a children's 
home which will be open from Autumn 2023 and have gained 
agreement to use the remainder of agreed funding to develop 
satellite provision linked to our existing children's homes which 
should increase both capacity and flexibility. 
 
We have continued to work with the regional initiative of 
implementing the Mockingbird model and have in place our first 
hub and spoke fostering arrangements of this model. More 

broadly, we have increased the number of in-house placements available continuing with creative 
recruitment practices and the use of flexibilities as required to maintain and increase our capacity. 
 
We have responded effectively to the increased demand for kinship care assessments primarily 
through the court arena and have seen an improvement in the timeliness of those. This supports 
the numbers and percentage of children who leave care with an SGO (Special Guardianship 
Order). We have also reviewed our SGO policy and at the time of writing are finalising the updated 
policy 
 
We have maintained the allocation of children with a plan for adoption with our child permanence 
team so that they are offered specialist support from an adoption worker who will oversee their 
care planning until the adoption order is granted. This has improved the consistency and quality 
of the CPR documents, life story work, later life letters (an area for improvement noted in the 

Page 52



27 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

previous ILACS (Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services) inspection) and permanence 
planning for young children with adoption plans. We have also continued with the UEA model for 
moving children from foster care to adoption which is seen as good practice and had positive 
feedback from carers and staff.  
 
The children with adoption plans who are not yet adopted are reviewed quarterly through the head 
of service-led adoption monitoring meetings that feedback to the ADM on progress. 
 
We continue to work with Adopt North East and will be supporting the implementation of 
improvement plans arising from the peer review of that service, in further developing the 
partnership working. Work is still ongoing to agree a revised funding model based on activity over 
a 3-year rolling period. 
 
We have embedded permanence performance clinics to monitor and challenge the planning for 
children in our care who have not reached their permanent placement which supports improved 
accountability and timely care planning. 
 
We are moving to reinstating face to face looked after reviews, but the majority continue to be 
conducted virtually and these have facilitated wider participation and take place in a timely way 
(97% in timescales).   IRO contact with the young people, separate to the reviews, has been 
effective and there is consistent IRO oversight of looked after plans in between reviews to further 
support timely progression of plans.  
 
Accessible consultation and pathways to mental health and wellbeing services for our children 
looked after having been maintained and this is monitored regularly at CPAG. 
  
We have maintained effective working relationships with the court and CAFCASS, receiving 
positive feedback from the local District Judge and senior colleagues in CAFCASS. We have 
been accepted on a DfE pilot to trial early discussions between CAFCASS and local authorities 
in care proceedings, although no detail or start date available at the time of writing this.   
 
We do provide a range of advocacy and participation supports and activities which are used by 
our children looked after and young people. 
 
Family Time service has continued to support family time for our children and young people with 
their birth families. 
 
The Ofsted Focused visit in July 2022 considered how effectively we achieved permanence with 
positive findings: 
 
“Social workers identify permanence plans for children at the earliest opportunity. This 
helps most children to achieve permanence in a timely way.  
 
Social workers know their children well. They use personalised and sensitive tools to 
communicate effectively with children and prepare them for permanence. An established 
quality assurance framework assists senior leaders and managers in monitoring the 
progression of children’s plans and the quality of social work practice.  
 

Page 53



28 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

A small number of older children and children with complex needs experience drift due to 
multiple placements or changes of social worker. Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) 
monitor children’s progress to achieve permanence, but the impact of their challenge and 
escalation to managers is not well reflected in children’s records. 
 
Social workers describe feeling supported and valued by their managers. They appreciate 
the learning and service development opportunities provided by senior leaders. These 
opportunities enhance their practice to support children in achieving permanence. 
Managers provide regular case supervision for social workers.” 
 
Following the focused visit, work has been undertaken regarding the effective use of supervision 
which is ongoing with a view to use of a Signs of Safety form to ensure focus in the appropriate 
areas of case supervision. Changes have been made to how challenges are recorded, captured 
and how they highlight what impact this may have on the child or young person so this can be 
better captured in our improvement journey. 
 
There have been encouraging improvements to education outcomes for looked after children in 
most areas. Achievement and academic progression are showing signs of being back on track in 
most key stages. We have continued to mitigate the impact of disruption to learning by focussing 
on school placement stability. Mid-year school moves have dropped as an impact of effective 
integrated working between the Virtual School, children’s social care and the Family Placement 
Service. High levels of support have been provided for schools, including enhanced Pupil 
Premium Plus payments, to slow down the rate of suspensions, and we continue to have had no 
permanent exclusions for our looked after children since 2008. An integrated strategy with the 
Education Welfare Service to improve school attendance is in place. 
 
There has been a reduction in the percentage of children re-entering care, with it being as high 
as 15% in some quarters in 2020 and 2021 but ranging from 0% - 10% over the most recent 12-
month period. This is a positive outcome for children, young people, and their families. 
 
 
3.2 What could we do better?  
 
Overall during the period, there has been an increasing percentage of children in care who 
experienced three or more placements (14% compared to 10% the previous year) and an audit 
of the reasons behind the placement moves revealed that whilst around 40% of children had 
moved due to a disruption in their previous placements, more positively, half the children had 
moved (according to their plan) into a long-term placement.   
 
Time scales for adoption have increased. As the number of children in the cohort is relatively 
small, one child can significantly impact on the figures and this has been the case here, reflecting 
the experience of older, harder to place children that Northumberland strives to secure adoption 
for. 
 
The numbers leaving care due to being adopted have reduced in this period compared to the 
previous one (11 per quarter in 2021 to 5 per quarter in 2022), although remain higher than the 
national average (14% compared to 10%). The reduction seen in 2022/23 reflects fewer 

Page 54



29 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Placement Orders being awarded during the pandemic, although that is now increasing, indicating 
that the numbers of children being adopted will increase again in 2023/24.  
 
We have not managed to significantly improve our use of independent visitors, but this is reflecting 
regional and national challenges with the provider not being able to recruit and match albeit low 
numbers sufficiently or timely.  
 
Achievement at Key Stage 2 needs to improve, and in early years more children need to reach a 
satisfactory level of development so that they are school ready.  Suspensions are higher than last 
year, the absence rate is high, and there have been more school placement moves where schools 
could not manage behaviour or fully meet needs. 
 
 
3.3 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
Services in place in Northumberland for our children who are looked after are robust and ensure 
that necessary assessments are carried out with regards to their health with 84% of our children 
having their teeth checked by the dentist, 97% of our children having an annual health 
assessment and all of our children under 5 having a health development check completed, 
showing an improving picture. 

 
 
The table above provides an at a glance evaluation from the Virtual school head teacher’s annual 
report from 2022 of how work in the Virtual School has impacted on care-experienced children 
and young people. There are notable strengths in the fields of permanent exclusions, destinations 
at age 16, and academic achievement of 19–25-year-olds; improvements regarding mid-year 
school moves and academic performance at key stages 1 and 4; but also, some areas that are 
not yet good enough such as academic achievement in the first years of school and key stage 2, 

Page 55



30 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

absence, and suspensions (formerly known as fixed term exclusions). The Autumn term 
persistent absence rate in Northumberland has decreased by 3.8% from 26.9% in 2021/22 
to 23.1% in 2022/23, this is equivalent to 1,421 fewer pupils being persistent absentees in 
2022/23 compared to 2021/22. This reduction is contrary to the rising trend seen nationally (up 
0.7% to 24.2%). 
 
Meaningful Measure 2- Making sure we are working with children, parents, important 
family, and friends so that they are fully involved in developing plans that are clear about 
who will do what and when 
 
Practice days have highlighted direct work with young people to be of an extremely high quality 
with staff working with young people in a meaningful and purposeful way and where appropriate 
using a range of creative methods and tools which support the Signs of Safety model.  
 
The Children’s Voices pilot has strengthened working with children and whilst this has only been 
in place for a short period of time, has enabled workers to undertake further direct work on a 
tablet that lots of children and young people are au fait with. 
 
Meaningful Measure 3- Making sure that children are living safely and securely as soon 
as possible 
 
Legal Gateway Panel is well established and embedded within practice across the Service. The 
panel give prompt and timely oversight on cases that require planned public law outline (PLO) or 
legal action, and this is well documented within children’s case files. PLO and cases within care 
proceedings are progressed without delay, the average for them to conclude from point of issue 
increasing from 36 weeks in March 2022 to 39 weeks in March 2023 which remains better than 
the national average of 46 weeks. The managers have a good grip of those cases and are aware 
of timescales and these are discussed in supervision. The panel membership has been reviewed 
and paperwork has been amended in line with the PLO re-launch to give a better understanding 
of the child(ren)’s lived experience and the opportunity to improve outcomes. 
 
The use of networks gives a more robust approach to consideration for rapid safety plans and 
initiation of viability assessments where necessary and these are seen to be completed in a timely 
way to prevent delay for the child. This is further evidenced by our use of Special Guardianship 
orders for children who exit care: 24% of children looked after were made subject to special 
guardianship orders in the year, a higher proportion than the national figure of 13%. 
 
Through permanence performance clinics, actions to improve the timeliness of permanence for 
our CLA have been identified, including timely discharge from care where appropriate. The 
proportion of children re-entering care has reduced from 9% in 2021/22 to 4% in 2022/23. 
 
92% of CLA cases where the IRO has monitored the plan in the last 6 weeks is an increase from 
86% in 2021/22, and 87% of CLA cases where the IRO has consulted with the child in the previous 
6 months is an increase from 75% in 2021/22. This provides a robust IRO footprint on case 
records and opportunities for children and young people to ensure they have their voice heard in 
their review meetings, even if they choose not to attend. Attendance and shaping of the review 
meeting are negotiated with young people and a range of methods are used to elicit views on an 
individual basis. 

Page 56



31 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
The ongoing focus on a wide range of CLA data, including the development of permanence, 
kinship, adoption and fostering clinics centred around data trends has improved the tracking of 
cases along a child’s permanence journey and the continued success in terms of adoption and 
SGO outcomes for our children in care. The percentage of children adopted / made subject to 
SGO consistently is above the national figure (the percentage of CLA leaving care subject to SGO 
increased from 18% in 21/22 to 24% in 22/23). This evidences robust and timely decision making 
for children and young people. 
 
74% of our children in care are placed within a 20-mile radius of the family home which is higher 
than the national average of 69%, but a real strength given Northumberland’s geographical area 
and rurality. This enables family and friend connections to be maintained subsequently supporting 
placement stability.  
 
We have increased our in-house fostering capacity as part of our drive to meet our sufficiency 
need: We had 386 places in 221 households (as of 31st March 2023) which increased from 326 
and 181 respectively in the previous year. 
 
Of the 152 children who left care in the year ending March 2023, 14% were adopted, which is  
better than regional and national averages of 13% and 10%, respectively.  
 
 
3.4 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  
 
Addressing the issue of placement sufficiency is a key priority, and actions include the continued 
implementation of the sufficiency strategy and there are a range of actions in place to increase 
sufficiency and further develop resilience and support for carers, which in turn is expected to 
positively impact on placement stability. For example, the NEWST team offer additional support 
to the care team who work with the children and young people whose placements may be at risk. 
 
We are working with the regional fostering pathfinder to develop and enhance the recruitment and 
retention of foster carers and will continue to develop the Mockingbird model. 
 
Implement the plan to develop 2-bedded satellite homes linked to our existing provision to 
increase capacity and flexibility. 
 
Explore potential for charitable funding from a local Trust fund to develop our overnight short 
break provision. 
 
We need to work with schools to introduce new strategies, or identify strategies that are known 
to work, to accelerate the academic progress of children looked after so that more are learning 
in their age-related curriculum.  
 
We need to reduce the number of persistent absentees and suspensions from school. 
 
 
 

Page 57



32 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
CARE LEAVERS 
 
3.5  What have we done well in the last year?  
  
Northumberland Adolescent Service (NAS) provides an integrated and holistic approach to 
safeguarding young people and ensures the needs of all children looked after and care leavers 
are supported to reach their full potential. To develop the service further we have taken feedback 
and recommendations from JTAI (Joint Targeted Area Inspections) 2019, ILAC 2020, HMIP 
Probation Inspection 2023, In-house practice days 2022 and Mark Riddell, National Leaving Care 
Specialist DFE (Department for Education) 2020 & 2023. We also have lead roles in the following 
forums:  

• Regional Lead for Northumberland County Council for contextual safeguarding. 
• Regional Lead for the financial workstream for care leavers and jointly deliver training with 

Adult Social Care around transitions to Adult Services. 
 

14+ Team work with young people who are 14 years old or above who are care-experienced, as 
well as young people who are over the age of 16 who need Child in Need support or who are at 
risk of homelessness. We ensure that our 14+ care experienced young people all have a pathway 
plan, this focuses on their current support needs, their future goals and how we are going to 
achieve these. We support our young people to transition into adulthood and when it is identified 
that they need further support we work with partner agencies such as Adult Social Care and Adult 
Mental Health Services.  
 
18+Care leavers Offer provides support to care-experienced young people who are aged 
between 18-25 years.  All have an allocated leaving care worker up until the age of 21 years old 
and can re-contact our service for support up until the age of 25. Support is also offered to 16- 
and 17-year-old Relevant Care Leavers, post 18 Former Relevant Care Leavers and post 16 
Qualifying Care Leavers.  
 
Care Leavers have a Pathway Plan, reviewed at least every 6 months. The Pathway Plan ensures 
that young people receive ongoing support as they transition from care into adulthood. This 
includes all aspects of the young person’s life. 
 
The leaving care social worker (LCSW) ensures that young people are supported in all areas of 
their life and transition into adulthood, through the completion and regular review of their pathway 
plans. Support remains as detailed above. 
 
When young people are supported to access their own tenancy and for those living in 
Northumberland, they can access priority banding via Homefinder, setting up home allowance 
and any other charitable grants are available to ensure that their future home is homely and meets 
their needs. Care leavers are also offered support to develop their money management skills, 
access to 10 driving lessons and the purchase of a driving licence and access to free travel within 
Northumberland via Nexus. 
 

Page 58



33 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Care Leavers Covenant The service works with the Virtual School and the care leavers covenant 
to progress opportunities for young people under the 5 broad headings, which form part of a wider 
action plan to support young people leaving care and is overseen by the Safeguarding and 
Corporate Parenting Advisory Group. The areas relating to care leavers are: better prepared and 
supported to live independently; having improved access to employment, education, and training; 
experiencing stability in their lives, and feeling safe and secure; having improved access to health 
and emotional support; and being supported to achieve financial stability. 
 
We have refreshed our Care Leavers’ Covenant to consider the work of new partners, namely the 
North East and North Cumbria ICB and North East Raising Aspirations Partnership. Improving 
retention in education, training, and employment (EET) is a priority in the Children looked after 
and care leavers’ strategy 2023-25, and we continue to prioritise opportunities for 16+ young 
people in the developing whole council approach to corporate parenting. 
 
Accommodation Service supports young people to transition from care into accommodation 
suitable to their needs in a variety of forms including a tenancy of their own, supported 
accommodation, a NAS Supported tenancy or arrangements for their current foster care 
placement to convert into a Staying Put arrangements at 18. Support provided are visits to young 
people, settling into their own tenancies, providing regular support to the NAS supported 
tenancies. Care Leavers Accommodation & Support Protocol meeting (CLASP) is a multi-
disciplinary meeting that includes representation from Housing to share information, so they can 
make a choice about their transition to alternative accommodation once they reach 18.  
 
We have a very small number of young people who are in custody and serving a sentence, during 
that time the Youth Justice Service, leaving care support worker, housing, probation, and prison 
staff work with the young people to ensure that we have plans in place to support them once they 
leave custody and a CLASP meeting is held prior to discharge. 
 
Sorted substance misuse service & the Health Hub provides intervention for children and 
young people up to the age of 18. Young people are supported to reduce, manage, or stop using 
substances, and to reduce the associated risks from substance misuse, both to themselves and 
their communities. 
 
Sorted have a designated 18+ care leavers worker who provides support to those who may have 
substance misuse concerns or support needs up to the age of 21. This role bridges the gap 
between the under and over 18’s drug and alcohol services. This is achieved by monthly 
consultation and transition meetings with the adult service. The Allocated worker can also offer 
support directly to leaving care young people who are not wishing to access NRP (18+ services).  
 
Exploitation/EFH/Missing for Care Leavers input includes practical responses to missing 
episodes in the form of Return Home Interviews (RHI). Exploitation support is multi-faceted 
including practical 1:1 intervention with young people, consultations for Social Care and Early 
Help, training, contribution to wider service delivery including multi-agency groups.  
 
As previously noted in the safeguarding section, Northumberland is moving towards a Contextual 
Safeguarding approach to managing Extra Familial Harm. Our scale up has included delivery of 

Page 59



34 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

bespoke training to all partners including social care, Youth Justice Service, Community Safety, 
Police, Health, Probation, Education, Fire & Rescue Services and more. Moving forward we hope 
to impact test this learning to inform further developments of contextual approach as a response 
to extra familial harm.  
 
Youth Justice Service and Care leavers work to promote a childhood removed from the justice 
system using diversion through our 10-point checklist, Out of Court, and Divert from Charge 
initiatives. This is done via multi-agency training and awareness raising across social care and 
wider partnerships. This allows us to support cases outside of the court arena where outcomes 
and intervention plans focus on repairing harm, reducing reoffending, and increasing general 
wellbeing without criminalising young people. Our first-time entrant's rate is lower than the 
national rate therefore evidencing a positive impact of this initiative. 
 
On approaching their 18th birthday young people will be discussed in transitions meetings, those 
with complex needs can remain with YJS to ensure holistic support needs are met. 
 
There are revised Terms of Reference for the monthly EET clinics, that includes broader multi-
agency representation, and engaging with the private sector. Careers’ guidance from the Virtual 
School has been strengthened as we have participated in a Post 16 Pupil Premium Plus pilot and 
recently introduced the role of a Post 16 education intervention worker. 
 
 
3.6 What could we do better?  
 
We aim to improve the percentage of 19–21-year-old care leavers in EET (the data indicates a 
reduction from 57% to 52%).  
 
Supporting NAS Tenancies and existing supported accommodation providers to register with 
Ofsted to ensure compliance with the regulatory framework that will formally begin in October 
2023. Ensuring that we are compliant with the regulation and ensuring that the standard of 
accommodation provided to young people remains of a good standard. 
 
 
3.7 What impact has this had and how do we know?  
 
The 903 DFE return tells us that the percentage for 17 and 18-year-olds in EET has increased 
from 70% in 2021-22 to 77% in 2022-23, far higher than the national average of 66%. This 
evidences the impact of EET clinics and the provision of opportunities for this cohort. 
 
We are in touch with 118 care leavers aged 19-21 (98%) which is higher than last year (95%) and 
higher than the England/North East (92%) and statistical neighbour average (92%). 
 
13% of our young people in the 17-18 and 19 –21-year-old age groups are staying put with former 
carers which is in line with the National average for 17–18-year-olds, and higher for 19–21-year-
olds (9%). 
 
By using data to improve accurate recording and through dedicated staff, the proportion of 17 and 
18-year-old care leavers with their ‘in touch’ activity information recorded has increased from 90% 
in Sept 2022 to 100% in March 2023. 

Page 60



35 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 
We have 97% of 19–21-year-old care leavers in suitable accommodation which is a 2% increase 
on 2021-22 and significantly higher than the national average of 88%. 
 
Meaningful Measure 2- Making sure we are working with children, parents, important 
family, and friends so that they are fully involved in developing plans that are clear about 
who will do what and when 
 
We know from care leavers’ feedback that they feel supported and listened to from the following: 
 
“They have helped me by helping with furniture for my flat and getting me moved in, if I 
ever need any help with anything they are always there.” 
 
“(Worker’s name) helped support applications and areas I had struggle with. (worker’s 
name) helped me overcome issues I was having in interviews for a job and attend a group 
that helped with tips and techniques that could be used to remain calm.” 
 
“(Worker’s name) has been amazing, I'm so pleased she became my worker she's done so 
much for me she got me funding from a charity, and I was able to buy driving lessons. New 
clothes, and it covered my bus every week which really helped as I'm not earning much 
doing my apprenticeship.” 
 
“The support has been amazing, honestly. I haven't used the service recently really as I 
haven't needed it. But if I have needed it, you've been really supportive. I've had you 
(worker’s name) as the same worker for 3 years which is the longest, I've had any worker. 
I'd scale a 10 for everything. There's nothing that can improve the service and support - 
everything has all been a positive experience for me.” 
 
 
3.8 What are we going to do next to support continuous improvement?  
 
The Virtual School will provide leadership for the Care Leavers’ Covenant and corporate parenting 
strategy, and a new post 16 ePEP (Personal Education Plan) has been developed for 
implementation in September 2023. 
 
We will continue to improve the opportunities for Care leavers to be involved in our care leavers 
group. 
 
We continue to look to promote an opportunity for a care leaver to be employed, even part time, 
within the service to support the views and wishes of young people. We are aware that some 
authorities have a care leaver employed for 6 hrs a week to focus on the care leavers board 
workstreams; we are a part of the regional care leavers board so that our young people benefit 
from this development.  
 
Increasing placement sufficiency has been detailed earlier. 
 
Currently consideration is being given to purchase and development of the care leavers app with 
Focus.gov.uk. 
 

Page 61



36 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Planning academic and vocational pathways for Year 11 pupils could be better aligned with 
pathway plans. 
 
 
4. Conclusion 
 
This self-assessment demonstrates the scope of work that has been undertaken with the overall 
aim of continuously improving the range, quality, and effectiveness of our services for children, 
young people, and their families. We have assured ourselves with the findings that our services 
continue to improve and that children and young people, their voices and lived experiences are 
at the centre of our core practice. We continue to strive to improve those areas of practice that 
we have identified, and we will also ensure that we are as prepared and inclusive as possible in 
responding to the major changes and challenges that are coming to social care in this and 
following years. 

        

Page 62



37 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Continuous Improvement Plan 2023/24: Overview 
 

         As indicated above, our continuous improvement plan is drawn from the findings of this self-
assessment, the ongoing quality of practice work and responses to national developments. 
  

Improvement Priority  Areas to Cover  
1. STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP: 
 
To ensure effective oversight of the progress and 
implementation of key strategies and that 
management actions are in place to support 
continuous improvement 

- Set up of satellite units linked to Childrens 
Homes to increase choice and flexibility 

- Create In-house short break service 
- Further consideration of the needs of 

disabled children with regards to 
accommodation 

- Consider response to the Stable Homes 
report  

- Implement an Attendance Strategy and 
strengthen with the use of data 

- Streamlining of the corporate parenting 
approach across the whole council 

- Further development of Family Hub 
provision including links with 
Northumberland Communities Together 
service 

- Action recommendations from HMIP 
inspection 

2.  WORKFORCE:  
 

Further developing the workforce, 
embedding family-focused practice, and 
supporting effective recruitment and 
retention 

- Continue to explore wider options around 
recruitment and retention to re-energise our 
recruitment campaign 

- Revisit career pathway and grading 
structure 

- Supporting of experienced staff to complete 
national managers programmes 

- Explore improvement of recruitment and 
retention within residential services to 
provide in house capacity 

- Review Social Work Academy to determine 
effectiveness and identify any changes  

- Sustaining of use of Signs of Safety model 
across all aspects of practice 

3. SUFFICIENCY, STABILITY AND SUPPORT  
 

To further improve the stability, range of and 
support for placements and for children and 
young people living away from birth parents 

- Progress actions relating to the Sufficiency 
Strategy 

- Embed regional fostering pathfinder, 
recruitment, and retention of foster carers 

- Continue to develop the Mockingbird model 
- Setting up of satellite homes (as Strategic 

Leadership) 
- Create overnight short break provision (as 

Strategic Leadership) 
- Determine and implement strategies to 

accelerate academic progress of children 

Page 63



38 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

looked after 
- Develop mechanisms to reduce persistent 

absenteeism and suspensions from school 
- Continue to promote face to face reviews for 

children and young people 
- Further increase opportunities for care 

leavers 
- Support accommodation providers ensuring 

regulation and good standard of 
accommodation for care leavers  

4. IMPROVING SOCIAL CARE PRACTICE: 
 

Further improve the effectiveness, timeliness and 
consistency of social care planning and practice      

- Continued implementation of QPAG in 
overseeing all quality of practice work 

- Further embed the use of the Quality of 
Practice Framework with the workforce 

-  Further embed the use of Meaningful 
Measures in performance clinics and the 
reviewing of Locality Action Plans 

- Build upon the foundation of use of the 
Children’s Voice pilot in collating and using 
feedback for shaping of service delivery 

- Develop meaningful mechanisms for closing 
the loop regarding learning from quality of 
practice activities (including those 
undertaken within NCASP) 

- Undertake mapping exercise regarding child 
in need cases in line with the recent social 
care review 

- Agree and develop a procedure for cases 
where contextual safeguarding is a factor 

- Development of workshops for staff 
regarding the following practice areas which 
have been identified as areas for 
development: 

- Timeliness and completion of child and 
family assessments 

- Consistency of recording in case 
supervision 

- Development of quality of children’s plans  
 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



39 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS 
 
ADM Agency Decision Maker 
ASYE Assessed and Supported Year in Employment 
C&F Children and Families 
CAFCASS Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group  
CCN Child Concern Notification 
CLA Children Looked After  
CME Children Missing Education 

CP Child Protection 
CPAG Corporate Parenting Advisory Group 
CPR Child Permanency Report 
CQC Care Quality Commission 

CSC Children's Social Care 
CSM Children's Senior Manager 
CSPR Child Safeguarding Practice Review 
DA Domestic Abuse 
DCS Director of Children’s Services  
DDP Dyadic Developmental Practice, Psychotherapy and Parenting training 
DfE Department for Education 
EB Evidence Based 
EDT Emergency Duty Team 
EET Education, Employment & Training 

EFH Extra familial Harm 
EH Early Help 
EHA Early Help Assessment 
EHE Elective Home Education 
EHM Early Help Module 
EOTAS Education Other Than at School 
EWSO Emotional Wellbeing Support Officer 
FH Family Hub 
FV Focused Visit 
HMIP His Majesty’s Probation Inspectorate 

HR Human Resources 
ICB Integrated Care Board 
ICPC Initial Child Protection Conference 
ICS Integrated Children's System 
ILAC(S) Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services 

Page 65



40 
 
 | P a g e  
 

 
 

IRO Independent Reviewing Officer 
JTAI Joint Targeted Area Inspection 
KIT award Education Otherwise award for excellence 

L&D Learning and Development 
LA Local Authority 
LCSPR Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews 
LCSW Leaving Care Social Worker 
MALAP Multi Agency Looked After Partnership 
MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
MSET Missing, Slavery, Exploitation and Trafficked 
NA National Average 
NAS Northumberland Adolescent Service 
NCASP Northumberland Children and Adults Safeguarding Partnership 
NCC Northumberland County Council 
NE North East 
NENC ICB North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board 
NESWA North East Social Work Alliance 
NEWST Northumberland Emotional Well-being Support Team 
NRP Adult Treatment Services 
PAM Parent Assessment 
PBR Payment By Results 
PEP Personal Education Plan 
PLO Public Law Outline 
PSW Principal Social Worker 
QIP Quality Improvement and Performance subgroup 
QofP Quality of Practice 
QPAG Quality Performance Activity Group 
RHI Return Home Interviews 
SEND Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
SGO Special Guardianship Order 
SIN Significant Incident Notifications 
SoS Signs of Safety 
SW Social Worker 
TUPE Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employment 
UEA University of East Anglia (Adoption Model) 
VCS Voluntary Community and Support 
YJS Youth Justice Service 

 

Page 66



 

DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET SINCE LAST OSC MEETING AND FORTHCOMING 
CABINET DECISIONS - SEPTEMBER TO DECEMBER 2023 
 

DECISION CABINET DATE/DECISION 
 

Cabinet Papers – 
10 October 2023 

https://northumberland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx
?CId=140&MId=2257 

Environmental Policy 
Statement 
 
To propose the adoption of an 
overarching Environmental 
Policy Statement by 
Northumberland County 
Council. 

10 October 2023 
 
RESOLVED that: 
  
(a)  Cabinet maintain its commitment to tackling climate 
change and to the development of a new Climate Change 
Action Plan which will set out the actions, work programme and 
targets that will be progressed over the period 2024 to 2026; 
  
(b)  Cabinet adopt the Environmental Policy Statement and 
continuously strive to meet the on-going commitments 
contained within the statement (see Appendix A) and the 
actions and targets (see Appendix B) to the report; 
  
(c)  the Environment Policy Statement be widely communicated 
and publicised to help raise public awareness, engagement 
and active participation on environmental matters across the 
county and 
  
(d)  Cabinet note the ‘Potential Areas of Additional 
Environmental Activity’ outlined in section 5.4 of the report. It is 
intended that these additional areas of activity will be subject to 
further development and, where appropriate, any associated 
budget implications will be considered as part of this year’s 
MTFP budget setting process. 
 

Building our Data Capability 
- Data Academy Pilot 
 
The purpose of this report was 
to outline the need to develop 
our data skills and capabilities 
and seek approval for the 
proposed establishment of a 
‘Data Academy’ and 
associated use of unallocated 
Apprenticeship Levy to fund. 
 

10 October 2023 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet approve the awarding of a pilot 
programme in data skill apprenticeships to the apprenticeship 
provider ‘Multiverse’ with a Government Levy spend of £0.6m 
(excluding VAT). 

Summary of New Capital 
Proposals considered by 
Officer Capital Strategy 
Group 

10 October 2023 
 
RESOLVED that 
  
Ponteland to Callerton Phase 2 
  

Page 67

Agenda Item 6

https://northumberland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=140&MId=2257
https://northumberland.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=140&MId=2257


 

(a)  Cabinet approve the revised phase 2 approach and 
approve the additional funds of £0.518 million to deliver phase 
2 and progress to scheme completion; and 
  
(b)  Cabinet approve the inclusion of £0.518 million to the 
Capital Programme in 2023-24. 
 

Corporate Performance – 
Quarter 4 2022/23 Outturn 
 
This report provides a 
summary of the progress 
against the Council’s three 
Corporate Plan priorities using 
the Council's performance at 
the end of Quarter 4, 2022/23 
(Q4) 

10 October 2023 
 
RESOLVED that: 
  
(a)   Cabinet note the progress against the three Corporate 

Priorities as summarised in the report; and 
  
(b)   Cabinet agree to progress against the three Corporate 

Priorities at end of Quarter 4 2022/23 being reported to 
Full Council at its November meeting. 

 

Food & Feed, Safety & 
Standards Service Plan 
2023/24 
 
The purpose of this report was 
to present to the Cabinet, for 
its consideration the Food and 
Feed, Safety and Standards 
Service Plan for 2023/24  

10 October 2023 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet receives and adopts the Food and 
Feed, Safety and Standards Service Plan for 2023/24. 

  

Page 68



 

 
FORTHCOMING CABINET DECISIONS 
 

Strengthened Biodiversity Duty and Reporting Obligations 
 
The legal duty imposed on public bodies since 2006 to have regard to the 
purpose of conserving biodiversity has been significantly strengthened 
through a legislative amendment to a requirement to take action to 
conserve and enhance biodiversity, with a planning and reporting 
framework that has to be complied with. This report sets out the 
implications of this duty for the Council and sets out the actions that need 
to be taken over the next year to comply with it. 
 

7 November 2023 

Approval of the Council Tax Support Scheme 2024-25 
 
The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the local Council Tax 
Support Scheme for 2024-25 to continue to provide support at a 
maximum level of 92% of council tax liability. 
 

7 November 2023 

Corporate Feedback Annual Report 2022-23 
 
The purpose of the Annual Report is to review the operation of the 
complaints process over twelve months (01.04.2022 to 31.03.2023), 
including statistical data, and to provide the local authority with how it 
keeps itself informed about how effective its current arrangements are for 
handling customer complaints. 
 

7 November 2023 

Delegate Authority to Award Leisure Contract 
 
The purpose of this report is to seek permission to delegate authority to 
enable the contract award of the Northumberland Community Leisure and 
Well-being Service. 
 

7 November 2023 

North East Devolution 
 
The purpose of this report is to consider and determine if consent should 
be given to the making of an Order that would abolish the North East and 
North of Tyne Combined Authorities, whilst at the same time establishing 
a new North East Mayoral Combined Authority. 
 

7 November 2023 

Summary of New Capital Proposals considered by Officer Capital 
Strategy Group 
 
This is a report of the Capital Proposals received and considered by the 
Capital Strategy Group. 
 

7 November 2023 

Adaptions for Disabled People 
 
To report on additional Disabled Facilities Grant funding received from 
Government, and to ask the Cabinet to consider the case for revisions to 
the Council’s discretionary grants policy. 
 

12 December 2023 

Page 69



 

Financial Performance 2023-24 – Position at End of September 2023 
 
The report will provide Cabinet with the revenue and capital financial 
performance against budget as at 30 September 2023. 
 

12 December 2023 

Outcomes of the Tender for New School Buildings for Astley High 
and Whytrigg Middle Schools 
 
Update Cabinet on the outcomes of the tender process for the 
construction of new school buildings for Astley High School and Whytrig 
Middle School and seek the delegated approval to award the construction 
contract. 
 

12 December 2023 

Leisure Programme Update 
 
To update Cabinet with progress on the Leisure programme 
 

12 December 2023 

Budget 2024-25, Medium Term Financial Plan 2024-28 and 30 Year 
Business Plan for the Housing Revenue Account 
 

The report presents to Cabinet, the updated Budget 2024-25, Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2024-28 and 30 year Business plan for the Housing 
Revenue Account  
 

16 January 2024  
 
Council 
17 January 2024 
21 February 2024   
 

Leisure Programme Update 
 
To update Cabinet with progress on the Leisure programme 
 

9 April 2024 

 

Page 70



24 October 2023 - CA 

 
 
 
 

 
Northumberland County Council 

 
Family and Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 
Work Programme and Monitoring Report 2023 - 2024 

 
 
 
 
 

Chris Angus, Scrutiny Officer 
01670 622604 - Chris.Angus@Northumberland.gov.uk 
 

 
 

  

P
age 71

mailto:Chris.Angus@Northumberland.gov.uk


24 October 2023 - CA 

TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
 

 

(a) To monitor, review and make recommendations about:  
  

• Early Years  
• Education and Schools  
• Special education needs and disability   
• Adult and Community Education  
• Training and Vocational Education  
• Lifelong Learning  
• Youth Offending  
• Social Services for Children and Young People  
• Children’s Health  
• Teenage Sexual Health  
• Looked After Children  
• Safeguarding – Children  
• Youth Services  
• Family Services  
• Children’s Centres  

  
(b) To oversee and monitor school improvement, as follows:  
  

(i) To receive feedback on the Ofsted inspection of schools.  
  
(ii) To support the work of the County Council and the progress of schools on the School Intervention and Support 

Programme in specified categories.  
  
(iii) To receive an annual report about the number of schools that have been on the School Intervention and Support 

Programme, the reason(s) for their inclusion, the support given by the Council and the success of this support.  
  
(iv) To receive an annual report on the performance of schools.  

 
 
 

P
age 72



24 October 2023 - CA 

 
ISSUES TO BE SCHEDULED/CONSIDERED 

 
 
Regular updates:  
 
Safeguarding Activity Trends Report 
Finance and Performance Six Monthly Report 
Children Permanently Excluded from School/Elective Home Education 
Schools performance 
Joint Targeted Area Inspection  
 
 
Issues to be raised: 
 
 
Themed Scrutiny: 
 
 
 
Issues to be scheduled: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

P
age 73



24 October 2023 - CA 

 

Northumberland County Council 
Family and Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme 2023 - 2024 

2 November 2023 

 Children’s Social Care Self-Assessment and 
Improvement Plan 
 
Quality of Practice in Children’s Social Care 

A report on the performance of Children’s Social Care and a plan 
for addressing future challenges. 
 
The report outlines the mechanisms used to explore the quality of 
practice and identify learning and continuous improvement.  This 
report highlights the quantitative and qualitative methods that used 
in Northumberland. 

7 December 2024 

 Director of Education Annual Report: Key 
Educational Outcomes (2022-2023 Academic 
Year) 
 
Complaints Annual Report 2022- 23: Children’s 
Social Care and Continuing Health Care Services 
 

Annual report on the key educational outcomes of the previous 
academic year. The Committee will be asked to identify any 
further areas for scrutiny.    
 
To provide Members with an overview of performance against 
complaints within Children’s services and to report to Members 
decisions made by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman and Health Services Ombudsman 

9 January 2024 

 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh – 
Giving Children and Young People the Best Start in 
Life 
 
 
Joint Health and Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
Refresh – Building Blocks Theme  

To update members on progress on actions within the JHWS.  
Members are asked to review this theme and propose 
amendments to priorities, actions, and indicators to measure 
progress for the remaining period of the strategy 2023 – 2028. 
 
To update members on progress on actions within the JHWS.  
Members are asked to review this theme and propose 

P
age 74



24 October 2023 - CA 

 
 
 
 
Adults and children’s Safeguarding Board Annual 
Report 
 

amendments to priorities, actions, and indicators to measure 
progress for the remaining period of the strategy 2023 – 2028. 
 
 
To provide an overview of the work carried out under the 
multiagency arrangements for Safeguarding Adults and Children. 

7 March 2024 

 Director of Education Annual Report: Key 
Educational Outcomes (2022-2023 Academic Year) 
 
Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher 
and Elective Home Education 

Annual report on the key educational outcomes of the previous 
academic year. The Committee will be asked to identify any 
further areas for scrutiny.    
 
To present the education outcomes of Northumberland’s looked 
after children for the academic year and information about the 
increase in the number of children who are electively home 
educated, and the multi-agency support that is in place for 
families. 

25 April 2024 

 Home to School Transport Review 
 
 
 
Safeguard Activity Trends & CIS Benchmarking 
Report 

An update on following the Home to School Transport Review 
presented to FACS in June 2023. 
 
 
The report provides an analysis of trends within social work 
activity in responding to safeguarding concerns regarding 
Northumberland’s children and young people; highlighting key 
indicators of performance, with comparisons to national and 
regional variations. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 75



24 October 2023 - CA 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Northumberland County Council 
Family and Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee Monitoring Report 2023-2024 

Ref Date Report Decision Outcome 

1 1 June 2023 Annual Report of 
the Principle Social 
Worker 

RESOLVED that the contents of the report and 
work completed over the year be acknowledged 
and the priorities identified be 
agreed.  Information was requested to be 
included in next year’s report on the progress in 
raising the profile of becoming a social worker 
within schools and how the sector could be more 
welcoming for men.  

No further action. 

2 1 June 2023 Home to School 
Transport Review 
 

RESOLVED that the information be noted.   An update on the implementation to be 
given to FACS at a future date. 

3 18 July 2023 Outcomes of 
Statutory 
Consultation on 
Proposals for The 
Berwick Partnership   
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet be advised that the 
recommendations outlined in the report were 
supported by this Committee. 

The Committee’s comments were 
considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 20th 
July 2023 

4 7 September 
2023 

SEND Self-
Evaluation 
Framework 
 

RESOLVED that the contents of the report be 
noted and next steps be supported by the 
Committee.   

The Committee will continue to examine 
SEN services. 

P
age 76



24 October 2023 - CA 

5 7 September 
2023 

Report of the 
Schools 
Improvement Team 

RESOLVED that the report be accepted and that 
whilst the Committee noted the changes to 
funding imposed by the DfE they asked that 
Northumberland County Council continue to fund 
the service.   

FACS recommends that Northumberland 
County Council continue to fund the Schools 
Improvement Team 

 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
	Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests
	Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests

	2 MINUTES
	4 Children’s Social Care: Quality of Practice Framework
	Enc. 1 for Children’s Social Care: Quality of Practice Framework

	5 Children's Social Care Annual Self-Assessment
	Enc. 1 for Children's Social Care Annual Self-Assessment

	6 REPORTS OF THE SCRUTINY OFFICER
	06 FACS Work Programme 2023 - 2024




